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on behalf of the Board of directors, i am pleased to 
present the annual report and Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2009 of lion teck chiang 
limited. turnover for the steel business remained 
strong due to the higher construction activity and 
steel prices. the property market has improved with 
renewed interest in the second quarter of 2009.

FiNaNCial HigHligHTS
the group recorded a higher turnover of $207m in 
FY09, compared to $�72m in FY08, an increase of 
20.4% with higher sales for both Steel and property 
development. net operating profit (before fair value 
loss on investment properties) improved by $�.8m 
from $7.�m to $8.9m. group net profit declined by 
$�0.0m from $�2.5m for FY08 to $2.5m for FY09 
due to fair value loss on investment properties and 
provision for foreseeable loss on properties under 
development. 

a fair value loss of $2.0m was incurred on 
investment properties in Singapore compared to 
a gain of S$8.�m in FY08. in addition a provision 
for foreseeable loss of $3.6m was also incurred 
on properties under development.  if not for the 

CHaiRMaN’S STaTEMENT

aggregate impact of $�3.7m of these items, net 
profit for FY09 would have been higher than that 
for FY08.

PROSPECTS
Steel Trading 
after both international and domestic steel prices 
had reached the peak in august 2008, the steel 
prices had made a sharp turn by dropping as much 
as 60%, like most of the other commodities which 
had been badly affected by the global economic 
crisis. though relatively stable condition now, the 
pricing of international steel rebar will continue to 
hinge on supply and demand as well as the raw 
material prices.

the demand for steel in Singapore may improve 
based on the current resurgent sales in private 
residential property. the local construction sector 
may also be bolstered by the release of few major 
infrastructure projects such as marina coastal 
expressway and the mrt down-town line.

Steel prices in Singapore are expected to be more 
stable but remain competitive. nevertheless, global 
economic prospects, international steel price 
stability and foreign exchange rate fluctuations are 
the factors affecting our results.

Property Development
Singapore
Based on ura statistics, the residential property 
index declined by 4.7% quarter-on-quarter in 
the second quarter of 2009, following the �4.�% 
decline in the first quarter of 2009. the index for 
landed homes indicated price decrease of 4.7% in 
the second quarter of 2009 compared to 9.2% in 
the first quarter. however, the residential property 

the group recorded a higher turnover of $207m in 
FY09, compared to $�72m in FY08, an increase of 
20.4% with higher sales for both Steel and property 
development.
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market in Singapore has turned slightly bullish 
since the second quarter of 2009 but it is not certain 
if buying interest is sustainable. 

For FY�0, the group will focus on and launch its 
housing projects at Wareham road and crescent 
road comprising of bungalows and cluster 
bungalows, respectively and expects firm buying 
interest.

Malaysia
in FY09, the projects under che kiang realty 
performed moderately for the year. the softening 
of the property market was experienced with the 
economic downturn. Buyers were very cautious 
and selective with their purchase and properties 
which were packaged with attractive incentives 
fared better. 

the residential project at Bandar mahkota Banting, 
has completed its earlier launched phases. For the 
year, it recorded higher revenue mainly contributed 
from the sales of existing phase of 47 units of 
double Storey terrace houses. in malacca, higher 
revenue contributions were also achieved from the 
sales of the mahkota marina apartments, plaza 
mahkota Shops and Strata offices. 

For FY�0, we will focus in strategizing to clear 
the completed stocks. We will continue several 
incentive schemes introduced earlier which has 
been specifically packaged to tailor to the needs 
of purchasers such as the Zero cost plan and easy 
payment Scheme.

PROPERTy RENTal
Sustaining the occupancy and rental rates of 
the group’s investment properties in Singapore 
remains challenging due to the global economic 
crisis and uncertain economic outlook. 

in malaysia, the group will continue to benefit 
from the contribution of rental income from its 
hypermarket building at Skudai, Johor Bahru.

aCkNOwlEdgEMENT
on behalf of the Board, i wish to thank all our 
management and staff for their achievements and 
contributions to our performance. i would also like to 
express my sincere appreciation to our customers, 
suppliers, shareholders and business associates for 
their continuing support. i am grateful to members 
of the audit committee and my fellow directors for 
their counsel and commitment.

Cheng Theng kee
Chairman
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OPERaTiONS REViEw

STEEl TRadiNg

turnover for the Steel division for FY09 rose by $32m or 20% to $�90m from $�58m in FY08 mainly 
contributed by few major construction projects such as the two intergrated resorts projects, higher steel 
prices and higher tonnage for rebar. With the higher volume and improved margins, net operating profit 
increased from $�.8m to $6.8m.

Steel

STEEl PROjECTS

01 Cliveden at Grange

02 Admirax

03 Lonza Factory

04 Meyer Condominum

01 02

04

03
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REgiONal PROPERTy dEVElOPMENT & MaNagEMENT

turnover for property development improved by $3.5m from $8.2m to $��.7m. net operating profit 
declined by $2.2m from a profit of $�.5m to a loss of $0.7m after a provision of foreseeable loss of $3.6m 
for properties under development.  

turnover for property rental decreased by 3% to $5.�m mainly due to lower rental income from the 
hypermarket building in Skudai, Johor. net operating profit declined by $�0.5m from $��.7m to $�.2m 
mainly due to an impairment loss of $2.0m on investment properties compared to a gain of $8.�m in 
FY08.

property

PROPERTy PROjECTS

01 Terrace houses at Banting

02 Detached Houses at Wareham Road 

01

02

02
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mr ong teong Wan joined the 
Board on 28 July �998. he is a 
non-executive and independent 
director. he is subject to annual 
re-appointment as director 
pursuant to Section �53(6). he is 
chairman of the audit committee 
and nominating committee and 
a member of the remuneration 
committee.

mr ong holds an mBa (international Business) from 
the university of Southern california. he is currently 
consulting partner at the Singapore institute of 
management and an independent director of Vicom ltd, 
chairing the remuneration committee and serving on 
the audit committee.

he has been a Board member of the economic 
development Board and the national productivity 
Board. he was accorded the Friend of labour award 
by the national trades union congress. he was in 
government service for more than �0 years and worked 
for two american multi-national companies at director 
level for more than �2 years. he has been a corporate 
consultant in Sim for more than 20 years.

mr chaY Yee joined the Board 
on 24 February �997 and is a 
non-executive and independent 
director. he was last re-elected as 
director on october 2006. he is the 
chairman of the remuneration 
committee and a member of the 
audit committee and nominating 
committee.  

mr chay graduated with a B.a. (hons), m. Soc. Sc. from 
the university of hong kong. he was a former public 
servant who has served in the ministry of Finance and 
the cpF Board.  he was the deputy general manager of 
the cpF Board before he became the managing director 
of Forte investments pte ltd, a post he holds to this day.

mr cheng theng kee, 
chairman of the group, was 
appointed to the Board on 24 
February �997. he is subject 
to annual re-appointment as  
director pursuant to Section 
�53(6). he is an executive director 
and also an entrepreneur with 
considerable experience in 
manufacturing, trading, property 

investment and development.  
 
mr cheng was educated at the chinese high School. 
he helped to steer and expand the lion group’s 
construction and property arm to its current position 
today. he was also responsible for the development 
of the teck chiang industrial complex at arumugam 
road, Singapore.  

mr cheng Yong liang joined 
the Board since 24 February �997 
and is the managing director of 
the group. he is also a member 
of the nominating committee. 
he was re-elected as a director 
on october 2007.

mr cheng graduated with a 
Bachelor of Science degree in 
Business administration from the 

university of San Francisco and a diploma in Building 
from Singapore polytechnic. he has been involved 
with the lion group for approximately 20 years, 
primarily in the lion group’s property division.

mr cheng also sits on the board of lion industries 
corporation Berhad, a company listed on the Bursa 
malaysia.

tan Sri cheng heng Jem joined 
the Board on 24 February �997 and 
is a non-executive director of the 
group. he was last re-elected as 
director on october 2006.

he has had more than 30 years of 
experience in the steel industry. 
he is also the president of the 
association chinese chambers of 

commerce and industry of malaysia and the chinese 
chamber of commerce and industry of kuala lumpur 
and Selangor.

tan Sri is the chairman and managing director of 
parkson holdings Berhad and lion corporation Berhad. 
chairman of lion diversified holdings Berhad and lion 
Forest industries Berhad; all of which are listed on the 
Bursa malaysia. he is also chairman of parkson retail 
group limited which is listed in hong kong.

encik maZlan Bin dato’ harun 
joined the Board on 3� January �986. 
he is a non-executive director and 
independent director. he was last 
re-elected as director on october 
2008.  he is a member of the audit 
committee and remuneration 
committee.

encik mazlan holds a Second class 
honours degree in economics and 

political Science from the university of exeter, england.

encik mazlan was previously elected to the Selangor 
State assembly to represent the Seri Setia (Sungai 
Way) (�982 to �986) and the lindungan (�987 to �990) 
constituencies. encik mazlan was also the chairman 
of several committees in the Selangor State economic 
corporation (pknS) and the chairman of the Selangor 
State public accounts committee from �982 to �990.

bOaRd OF diRECTORS
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CORPORaTE iNFORMaTiON

board Of directors
cheng theng kee (chairman)
cheng Yong liang (managing director)
tan Sri cheng heng Jem
mazlan Bin dato’ harun
chay Yee
ong teong Wan
Juliana cheng San San
(alternate director to tan Sri cheng heng Jem)

audit Committee
ong teong Wan (chairman)
chay Yee
mazlan Bin dato’ harun

Nominating Committee
ong teong Wan (chairman)
chay Yee
cheng Yong liang

Remuneration Committee
chay Yee (chairman)
ong teong Wan
mazlan Bin dato’ harun

Company Secretaries
Silvester Bernard grant, aciS
tan Yen hui, aciS

Registered Office
�0 arumugam road #�0-00
lion Building a
Singapore 409957
tel : (65) 6745 9677
Fax : (65) 6747 9493

Registrar and Share Transfer Office
B.a.c.S. private limited
63 cantonment road
Singapore 089758
tel : (65)  6593 4848
Fax : (65)  6593 4847

auditors
ernst & Young llp
certified public accountants
one raffles Quay
level �8, north tower
Singapore 048583
tel : (65) 6535 7777
Fax : (65) 6532 7662
partner in charge : mr tan Wee khim
(appointed during the financial ended 30 June 2006)

Solicitors
Wongpartnership llp
one george Street #20-0�
Singapore 049�45
tel : (65) 64�6 8000
Fax : (65)6532 57��

Principal bankers
dBS Bank limited
malayan Banking Berhad
oversea-chinese Banking corporation limited

kEy MaNagEMENT STaFF

mr FreddY mok is the group accountant.  Freddy joined 
the company in 2000 and is responsible for the overall 
financial accounting, treasury and corporate finance affairs 
of the group.  he holds a Bachelor of accountancy degree 
from national university of Singapore.

mr cheng theng hoW is a director and general 
manager of angkasa hong leong pte ltd (“ahl”). mr 
cheng is currently the group director in the lion group 
and the executive director of antara Steel mills Sdn 
Bhd. he is also a non-executive director of lion asiapac 
limited. his expertise and responsibilities in the group 
cover steel marketing and trading, project management, 
the maintenance of plant and machinery and rebar 
fabrication.  he has more than 20 years of experience in 
steel milling operations. he holds a diploma in mechanical 
engineering from Singapore polytechnic.

mS JennY ng kim kWee is the assistant general 
manager of ahl. She joined ahl in �999 and has over 20 
years of experience in rebar fabrication operations. her 
responsibilities cover project, sales & plant management. 
She holds a diploma in civil engineering from Singapore 
polytechnic.

mr taY hui Siang is the project manager of teck chiang 
realty private limited (“teck chiang”).  he is responsible for 
the co-ordination and development of residential property 
projects of teck chiang.  mr tay joined teck chiang in �989 
as project co-ordinator and was promoted to the position 
of project manager in 200�.  he has been in construction 
related fields for more than 20 years.  he holds a Bachelor 
of Science degree in construction management and a 
Specialist diploma in m&e co-ordination.

ms Wong choY ling is the manager in the property 
management department.  ms Wong is responsible for the 
administration of leases and management of the existing 
industrial properties of teck chiang.  She holds a Bachelor 
of Science honours degree in real estate management.

mS Juliana cheng San San 
joined the Board on 24 may 2002 
and was appointed alternate 
director to tan Sri cheng heng 
Jem.  She started her career with 
the organisation in �995. during 
her tenure, she held various 
positions in finance, human 
resource/administration and 
business development. in may 
2006, she joined chanel (china) 

co., ltd as the national accounts manager for the 
people’s republic of china.

She holds a Bachelor degree in commerce (management) 
from university of Western Sydney, australia and 
completed a program for global leadership from 
harvard Business School in year 2000.
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FiNaNCial SuMMaRy

Financial perFormance For the Year ended 30 June  2009 2008
    S$'000 S$'000

Turnover   
Steel trading    190,164   �58,368 
property development    11,727   8,237 
property rental    5,053   5,227 
investment holding    44   67 

total    206,988   �7�,899 

Net operating profit
Steel trading    6,755  �,763
property development    (698) �,506
property rental    1,199  ��,694
investment holding    (380) 2,568
eliminations   – (2,327)

total   6,876 �5,204

    Cents cents
earnings per share    0.3 8.0
net tangible assets per ordinary share    89.6 90.2

Financial poSition aS at 30 June   2009 2008
    S$'000 S$'000

investment properties   76,000 78,000
property, plant & equipment   12,825 ��,330
properties under development   57,442 67,626
completed properties   32,586 3�,854
Stocks   24,166 70,284
other assets   66,789 54,235
Borrowings   (58,138) (59,402)
other liabilities   (53,329) (96,644)

net assets   158,341 �57,283

Share capital   150,113 �50,��3
reserves   (17,051) (�5,634)
accumulated profit/(loss)   7,116 6,687

Shareholders' funds   140,178 �4�,�66
minority interests   18,163 �6,��7

total equity   158,341 �57,283
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CORPORaTE STRuCTuRE

liON TECk CHiaNg liMiTEd

iNVESTMENT HOldiNg

STEEl

PROPERTy

�00%
teck chiang (international) pte ltd

50% + � Share
angkasa hong leong pte ltd

�00%
ltc Building materials pte ltd

5�%
angkasa Welded mesh pte ltd

SiNgaPORE

MalaySia

�00%
teck chiang realty pte ltd

�00%
che kiang realty Sdn Bhd
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CORPORaTE gOVERNaNCE

the Board of directors are committed to high standards of corporate governance and have adopted the principles set out in 
the code of corporate governance (the “code”) issued by the Singapore exchange Securities trading limited (“SgX-St”). 
the company believes that it is in compliance with the listing manual, and where there are deviations from the code, 
appropriate explanations will be provided.

ROlE OF THE bOaRd

the Board meets at least thrice yearly. the Board supervises and approves overall strategic plans, major investment 
and funding decisions, provide entrepreneurial leadership, ensure that necessary financial and human resources are 
in placed. the Board establishes a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and 
managed, review management performance, set the company’s values and standards, and ensure that obligations to 
Shareholders and others are understood and met and all decisions are made objectively in the interest of the company 
and its Shareholders.

certain functions have been delegated by the Board to various Board committees, which operates under clearly defined 
terms of reference.

the attendance of each director at Board meetings and Board committee meetings during the financial year ended 30 June 
2009 is as follows:

   board audit Remuneration Nominating
    Committee Committee Committee
 number of meetings held:  3 3 2 2

 Name  Number of Number of Number of Number of
   Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
   attended attended attended attended
 cheng theng kee  3 na na na
 cheng Yong liang  3 na na 2
 ong teong Wan  3 3 2 2
 chay Yee  3 3 2 2
 mazlan Bin dato’ harun  3 3 2 na
 tan Sri cheng heng Jem  0 na na na
 (alternate: Juliana cheng San San)  � na na na

 na : not applicable

the Board has delegated day-to-day operations to the management while reserving certain key matters for its approvals. 
matters that require Board approval are group’s financial results, interested person transactions, material acquisition and 
disposal of assets, corporate or financial restructuring, share issuance and dividend payment.

newly appointed directors are provided orientation and training, if necessary, to enable them to familiarize with the group's 
business activities and the relevant regulations and governance requirements.

the directors are updated on the regulations of the SgX-St, companies act and other statutory requirements when 
the need arises.

bOaRd COMPOSiTiON aNd balaNCE

the Board comprises 6 members, 2 of whom are executives, � non-executive and 3 independent. the directors are 
professionals in business, commerce and manufacturing. the strong independent element of the Board ensures that it is 
able to exercise objective and independent judgement on corporate affairs.

the nominating committee ("nc"), which reviews the independence of each director on an annual basis, adopts the 
code’s definition of what constitute an independent director.
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bOaRd COMPOSiTiON aNd balaNCE (CONT’d)

the Board is of the view that the current size of the Board is appropriate, taking into account the nature and scope of the 
company's operations.

the nc is of the view that the current Board comprises directors who as a group provide core competencies such as 
commerce, business or management experience, industry knowledge, strategic planning experience and customer-
based experience or knowledge.

CHaiRMaN aNd MaNagiNg diRECTOR

in compliance of the code, the chairman and the managing director (“md”) are separate persons. the chairman 
is mr cheng theng kee, while the md is mr cheng Yong liang. Both chairman and md are related to each other, in that 
the md is the son of the chairman.

the chairman is responsible for the Board and the Board has delegated the day-to-day management to the md. the md’s 
role includes reviewing papers or reports prior to their submission to the Board and ensure timely submission of the requisite 
information. the md also assists in ensuring compliance with the company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

bOaRd MEMbERSHiP aNd bOaRd PERFORMaNCE

the nominating committee ("nc") comprises 3 directors, 2 of whom, including its chairman, are independent directors. 
the nc members are:

mr ong teong Wan (chairman)
mr chay Yee
mr cheng Yong liang

the nc meets at least twice a year and serves to provide a formal, transparent and objective procedure for appointing 
Board members and evaluating each Board member’s performance. the nc performs the following functions:

�. to recommend appointment and re-appointment of directors in accordance with the articles of association of the 
company.

2. to re-nominate directors, taking into account the individual director’s contribution and performance.

3. to determine annually whether or not a director is independent, taking into account the relationship a director may 
have with the company and its related companies.

4. to determine whether or not a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a director of 
the company, in the event that a director has multiple board representations.

5. to evaluate the Board’s performance and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board, and to 
adopt appropriate measures to assess performance.

at present, the company’s articles of association require one-third of the directors, including a person holding the office 
of managing director, to retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting. accordingly, the nc recommended 
to the Board that mr chay Yee, who is subjected to retire by rotation, nominated himself for re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting. two directors, mr cheng theng kee and mr ong teong Wan, are subject to Section �53(6) of 
the companies act to hold office until the conclusion of each annual general meeting and they shall be eligible for re-
appointment, but shall not be subject to the provisions of the articles relating to the rotation and retirement of directors.

the nc has an established appraisal process to assess the performance and effectiveness of the Board as a whole as well 
as to assess the contribution of individual directors.

CORPORaTE gOVERNaNCE
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bOaRd MEMbERSHiP aNd bOaRd PERFORMaNCE (CONT’d)

the assessments of a director are experience in being a company director, competence and knowledge, including level and 
quality of involvement during the course of the year, attendance record at meetings of the Board and Board committees, 
intensity of participation at meetings, the quality of interventions and special contributions.

on an annual basis, each director will assess the effectiveness and performance of the Board as a whole and fellow 
directors’ performance based on the assessments adopted by the Board. the chairman, in consultation with the nc, would 
evaluate and act on the results of the assessments and where appropriate, propose new members to be appointed to the 
Board or seek the resignation of directors.

each member of the Board has and will continue to have full access to the management and records. 

aCCESS TO PERSONNEl aNd iNFORMaTiON

prior to each Board meeting, all directors are provided with Board reports. these reports provide information on the 
company's performance, financial position and significant issues.

all directors are updated on an on-going basis via Board meetings and by way of circulars on matters relating to changes 
to the regulations of the SgX-St, companies act, accounting standards and other statutory requirements. each director 
may also seek independent professional advice on any company matters, as he requires. the phone numbers and 
email addresses of each director and company Secretary have also been provided to facilitate access to any required 
information.

all directors have independent access to the senior management of the company and also the company Secretary. the 
company Secretary attends all Board meetings and ensures that Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules 
and regulations are complied with. the company Secretary is responsible for assisting the company in its compliance 
with the requirement of the companies act, rules of the SgX-St listing manual and other applicable regulations. the 
company Secretary shall ensure good information flows within the Board and its committees, as well as between senior 
management and non-executive directors, and shall facilitate orientation and assist in professional development when 
required. the appointment and removal of the company Secretary are subject to Board approval.

REMuNERaTiON MaTTERS

the remuneration committee ("rc") comprises 3 independent non-executive directors, the rc members are:

mr chay Yee (chairman)
mr ong teong Wan
encik mazlan Bin dato' harun 

the rc meets at least twice a year and their responsibilities include:

�. recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for the directors and key executives.

2. ensure that the remuneration package are in line with the group’s staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate 
with their respective job scopes and levels of responsibilities.

the company has a formal and transparent process for fixing the directors' fees for individual directors. the rc ensures 
that the remuneration packages takes into consideration the company's relative performance and the performance of 
individual directors. the rc has access to external expert advice, if required.

directors' fees are set in accordance with a framework comprising basic fees, board fees and committee fees, which are 
subject to Shareholders' approval at the annual general meeting (“agm”) of the company.

during the financial period under review, only non-executive directors are paid directors’ fees. the payment of such fee is 
recommended for approval at the agm of the company. no director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

CORPORaTE gOVERNaNCE
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REMuNERaTiON MaTTERS (CONT’d)

the annual remuneration bands for the directors and key management staffs are set out below: -

 Remuneration band Salary1 Fees bonus benefits- Total
     in-kind2

  % % % % %

 Name of director (S$250,000 to below $500,000)
 cheng Yong liang 60.4 – 36.� 3.5 �00

 Name of director (below $250,000)
 cheng theng kee 7�.5 – 23.6 4.9 �00
 ong teong Wan – �00 – – �00
 chay Yee – �00 – – �00
 mazlan Bin dato' harun – �00 – – �00
 tan Sri cheng heng Jem – �00 – – �00
 Juliana cheng San San – �00 – – �00
 (alternate director to
  tan Sri cheng heng Jem)

 key Management (below $250,000)
 Freddy mok 82.3 – �7.7 – �00
 cheng theng how 77.8 – �5.� 7.� �00
 Jenny ng kim kwee 87.7 – �2.3 – �00
 tay hui Siang 82.6 – �7.4 – �00
 Wong choy ling 82.8 – �7.2 – �00

note: -
� Salary includes basic salaries, employer's cpF
2 Benefits-in-kind includes car and club membership

apart from mr cheng theng how, who is a brother to mr cheng theng kee and tan Sri cheng heng Jem, there are no other 
employees who are immediate family members of a director whose remuneration exceeds $�50,000 during the year.

aCCOuNTabiliTy aNd audiT

it is the aim of the Board to provide Shareholders with explanation and assessment of the group’s financial position and 
prospects. the directors have access to senior management at all times.

audiT COMMiTTEE

the audit committee ("ac") comprises 3 members, all of whom, are independent non-executive directors. the ac 
members are:

mr ong teong Wan (chairman)
mr chay Yee
encik mazlan Bin dato' harun 

CORPORaTE gOVERNaNCE
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audiT COMMiTTEE (CONT’d)

the ac meets at least thrice a year to perform the following functions:

�. to review with the external auditors the audit plan, and the results of their examination and evaluation of the group's 
system of internal accounting controls.

2. to review the group's financial and operating results and accounting policies.

3. to review, with the internal auditors, the scope and results of the internal audit procedures and to monitor the response 
to their findings to ensure that appropriate follow-up measures are taken.

4. to review compliance with the corporate governance guidelines on processes and activities adopted by the Board.

5. to review interested person transactions (“ipts”).

6. to make recommendations to the Board on the nominating of the external auditors, as well as reviewing the 
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors.

policies and procedures are in place for any staff of the group who may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. arrangements are also in place for the independent 
investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow up action. Such policies and procedures have been reviewed by 
the ac.

the ac has full access to both the external and internal auditors. the internal audit plan is reviewed by the audit committee 
in consultation with the external auditors.

the ac has also conducted a review of all non-audit services provided by external auditors and is satisfied that the nature 
and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

iNTERNal CONTROlS aNd iNTERNal audiT

the Board is responsible for ensuring that management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard 
Shareholder’s investments and the group’s assets. 

an internal audit team is in place to review, at least once annually, the risks incurred by the group in its activities and 
promote continuous improvement to the group’s operations. the internal audit team reports the ac on any material non-
compliance and internal control weakness. 

the ac reviews, on an annual basis, the adequacy of the internal audit function.

the Board believes that the system of internal controls that has been maintained by the group’s management during the 
year is adequate to meet the needs of the group in its current business environment.

COMMuNiCaTiON wiTH SHaREHOldERS

the company is committed to disseminate effective and fair information to Shareholders on a timely basis. announcement 
on material information and the release of quarterly and full year results are released to SgX-St via SgXnet. 

all Shareholders of the company receive the annual report of the company and notice of agm, together with explanatory 
notes at least �4 working days before the meeting. the notice is also advertised in a national newspaper.

the chairpersons of the audit, nominating and remuneration committees are present and available to address questions 
at annual general meetings with the presence of external auditors. 
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COMMuNiCaTiON wiTH SHaREHOldERS (CONT’d)

the company’s main forum for dialogue with Shareholders takes place at its agm, whereas members of the Board, senior 
management and the external auditors are in attendance. at the agm, Shareholders are given the opportunity to air their 
views and ask questions regarding the company. the company’s articles of association allow a Shareholder to appoint 
one or two proxies to attend and vote at general meetings on his/her behalf.

dEaliNgS iN SECuRiTiES

the company has adopted a code of Best practices on Securities transactions that is in line with the Best practices 
guide issued by the SgX-St. all directors and officers of the company who have access to price sensitive information 
are prohibited from dealing in securities of the company prior to the announcement of a matter that involves material 
unpublished price-sensitive information. they are required to report on all their dealings in securities of the company to 
the company Secretary.

RiSk MaNagEMENT

an organisational risk management framework has been established by management to formalise and document the 
internal processes, to enable significant business risks within the group to be identified, assessed, monitored, managed 
and evaluated.

the ac has reviewed the group’s risk management process and is satisfied that there are adequate internal controls in 
place to manage any risks identified.

the risk factors are discussed on page 7� of the annual report 2009 under the section on “notes to the Financial 
Statements”.

Other risk factors

Factors affecting the group’s property development activity in Singapore and malaysia include the general state of the 
economy in the country where the project is located, the availability of suitable land banks for future development, level of 
interest rates and other factors that affect the housing affordability. the prospects for the group are also dependent upon 
levels of infrastructure development, which in turn would affect the demand and supply of residential property, timing of 
development of properties and the property sales price.

in the property investment sector, rental and occupancy rates of industrial space are affected by the state of the Singapore 
economy, the future supply of industrial spaces and overall rental rates.

in the steel business activity, factors which affect the price of steel include the state of the construction industry, cost of steel 
scraps and the international demand and supply of rebars.

during periods of slowdown in construction industry, the collection of trade receivables generally takes longer and the rate 
of default also tends to increase. any significant default in payment by trade debtors will have a negative impact on our 
earnings and cash flow position.
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iNTERESTEd PERSON TRaNSaCTiONS 

the aggregate value of ipt entered into during the financial period under review pursuant to the Shareholders’ mandate 
obtained under chapter 9 of the listing manual were as follows:

 name of interested person 

 amsteel mills Sdn Bhd – $�7,364,000

 antara Steel mills Sdn Bhd – $20,287,000

RENEwal OF SHaREHOldERS’ MaNdaTE FOR iNTERESTEd PERSON TRaNSaCTiONS 

1. introduction
 the directors’ of lion teck chiang limited (“the company”) proposed to renew the Shareholders’ mandate for 

interested person transactions (“ipt mandate”) that will enable the company and its subsidiaries and associated 
company (“ltc group” or the “group”), or any of them, to enter into transactions with the company’s interested 
person (“interested person”).

 the approval of Shareholders of the company (“Shareholders”) for the renewal of the ipt mandate will be sought 
at the annual general meeting of the company (“agm”) to be held at �0 arumugam road, #�0-00 lion Building a, 
Singapore 409957 on 22 october 2009 at ��.00 a.m.

 the Singapore exchange Securities trading limited (“SgX-St”) takes no responsibility for the accuracy of any 
statements or opinions made in this ipt mandate.

 general information with respect to listing rules of the SgX-St relating to interested person transactions, including 
meanings or terms such as “associate”, “entity at risk”, “interested person” and “interested person transaction” 
used in chapter 9 of the listing manual, is also set out on page 22 of this report.

2. Rationale for the proposed renewal of iPT Mandate
 it is envisaged that the group which is considered to be entity at risk within the meaning of chapter 9 of the listing 

manual (“the ear group”), or any of them, would, in the ordinary course of their businesses, enter into interested 
person transactions (“ipt or ipts”) with certain classes of interested persons in the categories of transactions as set 
out in paragraphs 5 and 6 below.

 given that such ipts will occur with some degree of frequency and may arise at any time, the ipt mandate is intended 
to facilitate transactions in the normal course of business of ltc group provided that such ipts are made on normal 
commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of the company and its minority Shareholders.

3. Scope of iPT Mandate
 the ipt mandate will cover a range of transactions arising in the ordinary course of business operations of the ear 

group as set out in paragraph 6 below.

 the ipt mandate will not cover any ipt, which has a value below S$�00,000 as the threshold and aggregate 
requirements of chapter 9 of the listing manual do not apply to such transactions.

 transactions by the ear group with interested persons that do not fall within the ambit of the ipt mandate (including 
any renewal thereof) will be subject to the relevant provisions of chapter 9 and/or other applicable provisions of the 
listing manual.

CORPORaTE gOVERNaNCE
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RENEwal OF SHaREHOldERS’ MaNdaTE FOR iNTERESTEd PERSON TRaNSaCTiONS  (CONT’d)

4. benefits of iPT Mandate
 the ipt mandate is intended to facilitate specified categories of ipts in the normal course of business of the ear 

group which are transacted, from time to time, with the specified classes of interested persons, provided that 
they are carried out on the ear group’s normal commercial terms, and are not prejudicial to the interests of the 
company and its minority Shareholders.

 Where the ipts relate to the purchase of products and receipt of services from interested persons, the ear group 
will benefit from having access, where applicable, to competitive quotes from its interested persons, and may 
also derive savings in terms of cost efficiencies and greater economies of scale in its transactions with interested 
persons.  the sale of products and provision of services to interested persons are also an additional source of 
revenue for the ear group, provided that such products and services are sold or provided on normal commercial 
terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of the company and its minority Shareholders.

 the ipt mandate will eliminate the need to convene separate general meetings from time to time to seek 
Shareholders’ approval as and when the need to enter a specified category of ipt with an interested person 
arises, thereby substantially reducing the administrative time and expenses in convening such meetings, without 
compromising the corporate objectives and adversely affecting the business opportunities available to the ear 
group.

5. Classes of interested Persons
 the ipt mandate will apply to transactions (described in paragraph 6 below) that are carried out with the following 

classes of interested persons:

(a) lion investment (Singapore) pte ltd and its associates;

(b) lion realty private limited and its associates;

(c) William cheng Sdn Bhd and its associates; and

(d) mr cheng theng kee, mr cheng Yong liang, tan Sri cheng heng Jem, ms Juliana cheng San San and their 
associates.

6. Categories of iPTs
 the ipts entered into by the ear group with the interested persons (as described in paragraph 5 above) which will 

be covered by the ipt mandate and which will not include transactions in respect of the purchase or sale of assets, 
undertakings or business, are as follows:

(a) Revenue Transactions

 this category covers the revenue transactions (“revenue transactions”) entered into by the ear group, 
including the sale or provision to, or the purchase or obtaining from, interested persons of products and services 
in the normal course of the businesses of the ear group which are defined as follows:

(i) the leasing or rental of office space and plant premises to interested persons;

(ii) the provision and obtaining of property services, including project management, building maintenance, 
estate management, and security, sales and marketing services;

(iii) the sale and purchase of iron and steel products, including steel rebars, deformed bars, round bars and 
wire rods; and

(iv) the provision and obtaining of services in relation to the iron and steel business, including contract 
manufacturing, storage, marketing, distribution and transportation services.

(b) General Transactions

 this category covers transactions in relation to the provision or obtaining of management, support and other 
related services, including internal audit and information technology services.
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RENEwal OF SHaREHOldERS’ MaNdaTE FOR iNTERESTEd PERSON TRaNSaCTiONS (CONT’d)

7. Review Procedures for iPTs
 in general, the ear group has internal control procedures to ensure that the ipts are undertaken on normal 

commercial terms, are not prejudicial to the interests of the company and its minority Shareholders, and consistent 
with the ear group’s usual business practices and policies, which (in relation to products or services to be provided 
to an interested person) are no more favourable to the interested person than those extended to unrelated third 
parties, or (in relation to products or services to be obtained from an interested person) are no less favourable than 
those extended to the ear group by unrelated third parties.

 in particular, the following review procedures have been established: -

 Revenue Transactions
(a) leasing or rental of office Space and plant premises

 the ear group will determine that the rental arrangements between the ear group and the interested person, 
including but not limited to, the rental rates and terms offered to the interested person, are comparable to 
the then prevailing market rates and terms for other properties within the vicinity of similar or comparable 
standing and facilities, after taking into account the tenure of the lease, the area of the leased premises and 
any other factor which may affect the rental rates or terms of the lease.

(b) provision of Services or Sale of products

 the review procedures are as follows: -

(i) all contracts entered into or transactions with an interested person are to be carried out at the prevailing 
market rates or prices and on normal commercial terms of the service or product provider within the 
ear group, which are no more favourable than those extended to unrelated third parties. as a basis 
to determine whether the price and terms offered to the interested person are no more favourable 
than those extended to unrelated third parties, the ear group will take into account at least two recent 
contracts for the same or substantially similar type of unrelated third parties (including, where applicable, 
preferential rates/prices/discounts accorded to a class of customers or for long-term contracts or for bulk 
purchases, where the giving of such preferential rates/prices/discounts are commonly practiced within 
the applicable industry), or otherwise in accordance with applicable industry norms.

(ii) Where the prevailing market rates or prices are not available due to the nature of the service to be 
provided or the product to be sold, or where it is not possible to obtain at least two recent contracts for 
the same or substantially similar type of unrelated third party transaction (for instance, if there are no 
unrelated third party purchasers or customers for similar products or services, or if the product or service 
is proprietary), the terms of supply will (where applicable) be in accordance with the ear group’s usual 
business practices and pricing policies. in determining the transaction price payable by the interested 
person for such service or product, the ear group will take into account various factors including, 
where applicable, the type and volume of the product to be sold, the prices of raw materials, the type 
and complexity of the service to be provided, the credit worthiness of the customers, the duration of the 
contract, the strategic purposes of the transaction, and the then prevailing business conditions.
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7. Review Procedures for iPTs (cont’d)

 Revenue Transactions (cont’d)

(c) obtaining of Services or purchase of products

 the review procedures are as follows: -

(i) all contracts entered into or transactions with an interested person are to be carried out at the prevailing 
market rates or prices and on normal commercial terms for the service or product obtained by the 
ear group from unrelated third parties. as a basis to determine whether the price and terms offered 
by the interested person are fair and reasonable and comparable to those offered by other unrelated 
third parties to the ear group for the same or substantially similar type of service or product, the ear 
group will obtain at least two quotations from unrelated third party vendors or suppliers for the same or 
substantially similar type of service or product and will take into account, where applicable, factors such 
as, but are not limited to, preferential rates, rebates, discounts accorded to long-term contracts or bulk 
purchases and credit terms.

(ii) Where the prevailing market rates or prices are not available due to the nature of the service to be obtained 
or the product to be purchased, or where it is impractical or not possible for such quotes to be obtained 
(for instance, if there are no unrelated third party vendors or suppliers of similar services or products, or if 
the service or product is proprietary), the ear group will ensure that the price and terms of purchase are 
in accordance with industry norms, and/or will take into account, where relevant, factors such as, but are 
not limited to, specification compliance, skill, track record, quality of service, and delivery schedules.

 General Transactions
 provision and obtaining of management, Support and other related Services

 in relation to the provision and obtaining of management, support and other related services, the ear group will 
ensure that the costs for any management, support and other related services provided to, or obtained from, any 
interested person shall be in accordance with the cost recovery or sharing formula agreed with the interested 
person.  the ear group will review and approve the computation of the cost recovery or sharing formula prior to 
the entry of the agreement with the interested person and will ensure that such cost recovery or sharing formula 
shall be based on actual costs incurred and shall not be prejudicial to the interests of the company and its minority 
Shareholders.

 Other Review Procedures
 in addition to the review procedures set out above, the following review and approval procedures for ipts will be 

applied to ensure that the ipts are undertaken on normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the interests 
of the company and its minority Shareholders: -

(a) ipts equal to or exceeding S$�00,000 but less than S$3 million in value will be reviewed and approved by two 
(2) senior members of the management of the relevant company of the ear group who are designated by 
the audit committee (the “management members”);

(b) ipts equal to or exceeding S$3 million but less than S$5 million in value will be reviewed and approved by 
either one (�) of the management members and any one of the independent directors of the ltc group; 
and

(c) ipts equal to or exceeding S$5 million in value will be reviewed and approved by the audit committee.
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7. Review Procedures for iPTs (cont’d)

 Other Review Procedures (cont’d)

 ipts which need not have the prior approval of the audit committee will be reviewed on a half-yearly basis by the 
audit committee.

 a register will be maintained by the company to record all ipts (and the basis on which they are entered into) which 
are entered into pursuant to the ipt mandate.

 the company shall, on a half-yearly basis, report to the audit committee on all ipts, and the basis of such transactions, 
entered into with interested persons during the preceding half-year. the audit committee shall review such ipts at its 
half-yearly meetings except where such ipts are required under the review procedures to be approved by the audit 
committee prior to the entry thereof.

 the company’s annual internal audit plan shall incorporate a review of all ipts, including the established 
review procedures for the monitoring of such ipts, entered into during the current financial year pursuant to 
the ipt mandate.

 the audit committee shall, in conjunction with its review of the ipts and the internal audit report, ascertain 
whether the established review procedures have been complied with. if, during its reviews, the audit committee 
is of the view that the review procedures as stated above are not sufficient or have become inappropriate, in view 
of changes to the nature of, or the manner in which, the business activities of the ear group are conducted, it 
will take such actions as it deems appropriate and/or institute additional procedures as necessary to ensure that 
the ipts will be on normal commercial terms and not prejudicial to the interests of the company and its minority 
Shareholders, and the company will revert to the Shareholders for a fresh Shareholders mandate based on new 
guidelines for the ipts. in such a case, all ipts will be reviewed and approved by the audit committee prior to their 
entry thereof.

 For the purposes of the above review and approval process, any director who is not considered independent for 
purposes of the ipt mandate and/or any ipt will abstain from voting in relation to any respective resolution, and/or 
abstain from participating in the audit committee’s decision during its review of the established review procedures 
for the ipts or during its review or approval of any ipt.

8. Expiry and renewal of the iPT Mandate
 if approved by Shareholders at the agm, the ipt mandate will take effect from the date of receipt of Shareholders’ 

approval, and will (unless revoked or varied by the company in a general meeting) continue to be in force until 
the next agm of the company and will apply to ipts entered into from the date receipt of Shareholders’ approval. 
approval from the Shareholders will be sought for the renewal of the ipt mandate at each subsequent agm, 
subject to review by the audit committee of its continued application to the ipts.

9. disclosures
 pursuant to chapter 9 of the listing manual, the company will disclose in its annual report the aggregate value of 

the interested person transactions conducted under the ipt mandate during the financial year, and in the annual 
reports for the subsequent financial year during which the ipt mandate is in force. in addition, the company will 
announce the aggregate value of the ipts conducted pursuant to the ipt mandate for the financial periods which 
it is required to report on (in accordance with rule 705 of the listing manual) within the time required for the 
announcement of such report. these disclosures will be in the form set out in rule 907 of the listing manual.
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10. Statement of the audit Committee
 the audit committee of the company confirms that:

(a) the methods and procedures for determining the transaction prices of the ipts conducted under the ipt mandate 
have not changed since the Shareholders approval the ipt mandate at the 2008 agm;

(b) the methods and procedures referred to in (a) above continue to be sufficient to ensure that these ipts will be 
carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the company and its 
minority Shareholders; and

(c) the company will obtain a fresh mandate from the Shareholders if the methods or procedures for determining 
transaction prices referred to in paragraph �0(a) becomes inappropriate.

11. directors’ and substantial shareholders’ interest
 the interest of the directors’ and substantial shareholders’ interests of the company as at 30 June 2009 and as at 9 

September 2009 respectively, can be found on page 26 and page 79 of this report respectively.

 directors and his alternate director of the company will abstain from voting their shareholdings in the company, if 
any, on the resolution relating to the renewal of the ipt mandate at the forthcoming agm.

 controlling Shareholders and their respective associates, being interested persons under the ipt mandate, will 
abstain from voting their respective shareholdings in the company on the resolution relating to the renewal of the 
ipt mandate at the forthcoming agm.

12. independent directors’ recommendation
 the independent directors having considered, inter alia, the terms, the rationale and the benefits of the ipt mandate, 

are of the view that the ipt mandate is in the interests of the company and accordingly recommend that Shareholders 
vote in favour of the resolution relating to the renewal of the ipt mandate at the forthcoming agm.

13. directors’ responsibility statement
 the directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given herein 

and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the facts stated 
herein are fair and accurate and that there are no material facts the omission of which would make any statement 
in this report misleading.

gENERal iNFORMaTiON RElaTiNg TO CHaPTER 9 OF THE liSTiNg MaNual

1. introduction
 chapter 9 of the listing manual applies to transactions which a listed company or any of its subsidiaries or 

associated companies (other than a subsidiary or an associated company that is itself listed on the SgX-St or an 
approved stock exchange, or an associated company over which the listed group and/or its interested persons(s) 
has no control) proposes to enter into with a counterparty who is an interested person of the listed company.
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2. Terms used in Chapter 9 of the listing Manual

 “Entity at Risk”

 the term “entity at risk” is defined to mean (a) the listed company, (b) a subsidiary of the listed company that is 
not listed on the SgX-St or an approved exchange and (c) an associated company of the listed company that is 
not listed on the SgX-St or an approved exchange, provided that the listed company and/or its subsidiaries and its 
interested person(s) has control over the associated company.

 “interested Person”

 the term “interested person” is defined to mean a director, or controlling shareholder of the listed issuer, or an 
associate of any such director, or controlling shareholder.

 “interested Person Transaction”

 the term “interested person transaction” is defined to mean a transaction between an entity at risk and an 
interested person.

 “associate”

 in relation to any director, substantial or controlling shareholder (being an individual), an “associate” is defined to 
be an immediate family member (that is, spouse, child, adopted child, step child, sibling and parent); the trustees of 
any trust of which he or his immediate family is a beneficiary or, in the case of a discretionary trust, is a discretionary 
object; and any company in which the individual and his immediate family together (directly or indirectly) have an 
interest of 30% or more.

 in relation to a substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder (being a company), an “associate” is defined to 
be any other company which is a subsidiary or holding company or is a subsidiary of such holding company or 
one in the equity of which it and/or such other company or companies taken together (directly or indirectly) have 
an interest of 30% or more.

 “associated Company”

 a listed company’s “associated company” is defined as a company in which at least 20% but not more than 50% of 
its shares are held by the listed company or group.

 “Controlling Shareholder”

 a “controlling shareholder” of a listed company is a person who holds directly or indirectly �5% or more of the 
nominal amount of all voting shares in the listed company, or a person who in fact exercised control over the listed 
company.

 “approved Exchange”

 an “approved exchange” means a stock exchange that has rules which safeguard the interests of shareholders 
against interested person transactions according to similar principles to chapter 9 of the listing manual.

 “Chief Executive Officer”

 “chief executive officer” is defined in the listing manual to mean the most senior executive officer who is responsible 
under the immediate authority of the board of directors for the conduct of the business of listed issuer.
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3. Materiality Thresholds, disclosure Requirements and Shareholders’ approval
 except for certain transactions which, by reason of the nature of such transactions, are not considered to put the 

listed company at risk to its interested person and are hence excluded from the ambit of chapter 9, immediate 
announcement and shareholders’ approval would be required in respect of transactions with interested persons if 
certain financial thresholds (which are based on the value of the transaction as compared with the listed company’s 
latest audited consolidated nta) are reached or exceeded.

 Immediate Announcement

 an immediate announcement is required where the interested person transaction is of a value equal to, or more 
than, 3% of the listed group’s latest audited nta.

 Where the aggregate value of all the transactions entered into with the same interested person during the same 
financial year amounts to 3% or more of the listed group’s latest audited nta, the issuer must make an announcement 
of the latest transaction and all future transactions entered into with the same interested person during that financial 
year.

 Shareholders’ Approval

 Shareholders’ approval is required where the interested person transaction is of a value equal to or more than: -

(a) 5% of the listed group’s latest audited nta; or

(b) 5% of the listed group’s latest audited nta, when aggregated with other transactions entered into with the same 
interested person during the same financial year.

 however, a transaction which has been approved by shareholders, or is the subject of aggregation with another 
transaction that has been approved by shareholders, need not be included in any subsequent aggregation.

 the above requirements for immediate announcement and for shareholders’ approval do not apply to any 
transaction below S$�00,000.

4. Exceptions
 rule 9�6 of the listing manual provides that the following transactions are not required to comply with rule 906: -

(�) the entering into, or renewal of a lease or tenancy of real property of not more than 3 years if the terms are 
supported by independent valuation.

(2) investment in a joint venture with an interested person if:-

(a) the risks and rewards are in proportion to the equity of each joint venture partner;

(b) the issuer confirms by an announcement that its audit committee is of the view that the risks and rewards 
of the joint venture are in proportion to the equity of each joint venture partner and the terms of the join 
venture are not prejudicial to the interests of the issuer and its minority shareholders; and

(c) the interested person does not have an existing equity interest in the joint venture prior to the participation 
of the entity at risk in the joint venture.
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4. Exceptions (cont’d)
(3) the provision of a loan to a joint venture with an interested person if:-

(a) the loan is extended by all joint venture partners in proportion to their equity and on the same terms;

(b) the interested person does not have an existing equity interest in the joint venture prior to the participation 
of the entity at risk in the joint venture; and

(c) the issuer confirms by an announcement that its audit committee is of the view that:-

(i) the provision of the loan is not prejudicial to the interests of the issuer and its minority shareholders; 
and

(ii) the risks and rewards of the joint venture are in proportion to the equity of each joint venture partner 
and the terms of the joint venture are not prejudicial to the interests of the issuer and its minority 
shareholders.

(4) the award of a contract by way of public tender to an interested person if:-

(a) the awarder entity at risk announces the following information:-

(i) the prices of all bids submitted;

(ii) an explanation of the basis for selection of the winning bid; and

(b) both the listed bidder (or if the bidder is unlisted, its listed parent company) and listed awarder (or if the 
awarder is unlisted, its listed parent company) have boards, the majority of whose directors are different 
and are not accustomed to act on the instructions of the interested person or its associates and have audit 
committees whose members are completely different.

(5) the receipt of a contract which was awarded by way of public tender, by an interested person if:-

(a) the bidder entity at risk announces the prices of all bids submitted; and

(b) both the listed bidder (or if the bidder is unlisted, its listed parent company) and listed awarder (or if the 
awarder is unlisted, its listed parent company) have boards, the majority of whose directors are different 
and are not accustomed to act on the instructions of the interested person or its associates and have audit 
committees whose members are completely different.

5. Shareholders’ Mandate
 rule 920(�) of the listing manual permits a listed company to seek a general mandate from its shareholders for 

recurrent transactions with interested persons of a revenue or trading nature or those necessary for its day-to-day 
operations, but not in respect of the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or businesses. a general mandate is 
subject to annual renewal.
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the directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements 
of lion teck chiang limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (the “group”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 
and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the company as at 30 June 2009.

diRECTORS

the directors of the company in office at the date of this report are:

cheng theng kee (chairman)
cheng Yong liang (managing director)
tan Sri cheng heng Jem
mazlan Bin dato’ harun
ong teong Wan
chay Yee
Juliana cheng San San (alternate director for tan Sri cheng heng Jem)

aRRaNgEMENTS TO ENablE diRECTORS TO aCquiRE SHaRES aNd dEbENTuRES

neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the company a party to any arrangement whose object 
is to enable the directors of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the 
company or any other body corporate.

diRECTORS’ iNTERESTS iN SHaRES aNd dEbENTuRES

the following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’ 
shareholdings required to be kept under Section �64 of the Singapore companies act, cap. 50, an interest in shares and 
share options of the company, as stated below:

 Held in the name
 of director deemed interest
 at beginning at end at beginning at end
 of the year of the year of the year of the year

Name of director    
Ordinary shares    
    
cheng theng kee 300,000 300,000 53,�34,000 53,�34,000
cheng Yong liang �50,000 �50,000 – –
tan Sri cheng heng Jem – – 33,902,000 33,902,000
Juliana cheng San San �2,000 �2,000 – –
    
there was no change in the above-mentioned interests between the end of the financial year and 2� July 2009.

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore companies act, cap. 50, cheng theng kee and tan Sri cheng heng Jem are 
deemed to have an interest in shares of the subsidiary companies of the company.

except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interest in shares or 
debentures of the company, or of related corporations either at the beginning or at the end of the financial year.
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diRECTORS’ CONTRaCTual bENEFiTS

except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the company has 
received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the company or a related corporation with 
the director, or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial 
financial interest.

SHaRE OPTiONS

during the financial year there were:

(i) no options granted by the company to any person to take up unissued shares in the company; and

(ii) no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the company.

as at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the company under option.

audiT COMMiTTEE

the audit committee comprises the following members:

ong teong Wan (chairman) (non-executive and independent director)
chay Yee (non-executive and independent director)
mazlan Bin dato’ harun (non-executive and independent director)

the audit committee carries out its functions in accordance with Section 20�B(5) of the Singapore companies act, cap. 
50, including a review of the financial statements of the company and of the group for the financial year and the auditors’ 
report thereon.

pursuant to rule �207(6) of the listing manual of Singapore exchange Securities trading limited, the committee has 
conducted an annual review of the non-audit services provided by its external auditors to satisfy itself that the nature and 
extent of such services will not prejudice the independence of the external auditors.  it has recommended to the Board 
of directors the nomination of ernst & Young llp as external auditors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the 
company.

the functions performed are detailed in the report on corporate governance.

 
audiTORS

ernst & Young llp have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditors.

on behalf of the Board of directors,

Cheng Theng kee Cheng yong liang
director director

Singapore
� September 2009

diRECTORS’ REPORT
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We, cheng theng kee and cheng Yong liang, being two of the directors of lion teck chiang limited, do hereby state that, 
in the opinion of the directors:

(a) the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated income statement, statements of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows together with the notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the group and of the company as at 30 June 2009, and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of 
the group and the changes in the equity of the company for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they fall due.

on behalf of the Board of directors,

Cheng Theng kee Cheng yong liang
director director

Singapore
� September 2009
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of lion teck chiang limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “group”) set out on pages 30 to 77, which comprise the balance sheets of the group and the company as at 30 
June 2009, the statements of changes in equity of the group and the company, and the income statement and cash flow 
statement of the group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes.

MaNagEMENT’S RESPONSibiliTy FOR THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS

management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore companies act, cap. 50 (the “act”) and Singapore Financial reporting Standards. this 
responsibility includes devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly 
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss account and 
balance sheet and to maintain accountability of assets; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

audiTORS’ RESPONSibiliTy

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on auditing.  those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  in making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPiNiON

in our opinion,

(i) the consolidated financial statements of the group, and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the 
company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the act and Singapore Financial reporting 
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at 30 June 2009 
and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the group and the changes in equity of the company for the year 
ended on that date; and

(ii) the accounting and other records required by the act to be kept by the company and by those subsidiaries incorporated 
in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the act.

   

Ernst & young llP
public accountants and certified public accountants

Singapore
� September 2009

iNdEPENdENT audiTORS’ REPORT
to the Members of lion Teck Chiang limited
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balaNCE SHEETS 
as at 30 june 2009

   group Company
  Note 2009 2008 2009 2008
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets        
investment properties 3 76,000 78,000 – –
property, plant and equipment 4 12,825 ��,330 1 �
Subsidiary companies 5 – – 131,317 �30,543
associated company 6 – �6 – 33
long-term investments 7 3,720 3,720 380 380
properties under development 8 57,442 67,626 – –
deferred tax assets �7 1,331 �,78� – –

Current assets        
completed properties held for sale 9 32,586 3�,854 – –
Stocks �0 24,166 70,284 – –
trade debtors �� 23,961 �6,�22 – –
other debtors �2 1,151 3,98� 2 2
amounts due from related parties �3 10,132 6,589 – –
Fixed deposits 27 1,885 �,475 – –
cash and bank balances 27 24,609 20,55� 15 6

   118,490 �50,856 17 8

Current liabilities        
trade creditors �4 22,238 36,228 – –
other creditors �5 13,959 34,833 182 �96
interest-bearing loans and 
  borrowings �6 8,827 29,372 – –
amounts due to related parties �3 14,967 24,349 22 22
provision for taxation  790 76 – –

   60,781 �24,858 204 2�8

Net current assets/(liabilities)  57,709 25,998 (187) (2�0)

Non-current liabilities     
trade creditors �4 370 254 – –
interest-bearing loans and borrowings �6 49,311 30,030 – –
amounts due to subsidiaries 5 – – 14,773 �2,835
deferred tax liabilities �7 1,005 904 – –

   50,686 3�,�88 14,773 �2,835
  
   158,341 �57,283 116,738 ��7,9�2
   

Capital and reserves        
Share capital �8 150,113 �50,��3 150,113 �50,��3
capital reserve  1,222 �,247 – –
exchange translation reserve  (18,273) (�7,663) – –
dividend reserve 28 – 782 – 782
accumulated profits/(losses)  7,116 6,687 (33,375) (32,983)
       
Shareholders’ funds  140,178 �4�,�66 116,738 ��7,9�2
Minority interests  18,163 �6,��7 – –
   
   158,341 �57,283 116,738 ��7,9�2
       
      
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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    Note 2009 2008
     $’000 $’000
     
Revenues   �9 206,988 �7�,899

Other revenues   20 1,127 �,�40
     
Total revenues    208,115 �73,039
     
Costs and expenses     
cost of sales   2� (186,925) (�59,398)
Salaries and employee benefits   22 (2,726) (2,425)
depreciation of property, plant and equipment   4 (1,019) (984)
other operating expenses    (8,569) (3,�0�)
     
Total costs and expenses    (199,239) (�65,908)
     
     
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties   3 (2,000) 8,073
     
     
Operating profit   23 6,876 �5,204
Finance costs   24 (2,787) (2,825)
     
Profit before taxation    4,089 �2,379
taxation   25 (1,614) �44
     
Net profit for the year    2,475 �2,523
     
     
attributable to:     
minority interests    2,046 25
Shareholders of the company    429 �2,498
       
     2,475 �2,523
     

   Cents Cents
Earning per share     
– Basic and diluted   26 0.3 8.0
     

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

CONSOlidaTEd iNCOME STaTEMENT 
for the year ended 30 june 2009
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STaTEMENTS OF CHaNgES iN EquiTy 
for the year ended 30 june 2009

     accumu-  
    Exchange lated
  Share Capital translation profits/ dividend Minority
  capital reserve reserve (losses) reserve interests Total
  (Note 18)    (Note 28)   
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

group       
       
Balance as at � July 2008 �50,��3 �,247 (�7,663) 6,687 782 �6,��7 �57,283
realisation of surplus on sale – (33) – – – – (33)
reduction of tax on revaluation 

surplus – 8 – – – – 8
exchange differences on 

consolidation – – (6�0) – – – (6�0)
       
Net loss recognised directly 

in equity – (25) (6�0) – – – (635)
net profit for the year – – – 429 – 2,046 2,475
       
Total recognised income and 

expense for the year – (25) (6�0) 429 – 2,046 �,840
dividend paid by the company – – – – (782) – (782)
       
balance as at 30 june 2009 �50,��3 �,222 (�8,273) 7,��6 – �8,�63 �58,34�
 
      
Balance as at � July 2007 �50,��3 �,250 (�3,628) (5,029) �,924 �6,293 �50,923
realisation of surplus on sale – (�0) – – – – (�0)
reduction of tax on revaluation 

surplus – 7 – – – – 7
exchange differences on 

consolidation – – (4,035) – – – (4,035)
       
Net loss recognised directly 

in equity – (3) (4,035) – – – (4,038)
net profit for the year – – – �2,498 – 25 �2,523
       
Total recognised income and 

expense for the year – (3) (4,035) �2,498 – 25 8,485
dividend paid by subsidiary – – – – – (20�) (20�)
dividend paid by the company – – – – (�,924) – (�,924)
transfer to dividend reserve – – – (782) 782 – –
       
balance as at 30 june 2008 �50,��3 �,247 (�7,663) 6,687 782 �6,��7 �57,283
       
     
   Share accumulated dividend
   capital losses reserve Total
   (Note 18)  (Note 28)  
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company      

Balance as at � July 2008  �50,��3 (32,983) 782 ��7,9�2
net loss for the year  – (392) – (392)

Total recognised income and expense for the year  – (392) – (392)

dividend paid  – – (782) (782)

balance as at 30 june 2009  �50,��3 (33,375) – ��6,738
 

Balance as at � July 2007  �50,��3 (39,8�9) �,924 ��2,2�8
net profit for the year  – 7,6�8 – 7,6�8
       
Total recognised income and expense for the year  – 7,6�8 – 7,6�8
       
dividend paid  – – (�,924) (�,924)
transfer to dividend reserves  – (782) 782 –

balance as at 30 june 2008  �50,��3 (32,983) 782 ��7,9�2
      

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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     2009 2008
     $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities:   
operating profit before interest and taxation    6,185 �4,898
adjustments for:   

depreciation of property, plant and equipment    1,019 984
loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment   3 (4�)
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment properties    2,000 (8,073)
(gain)/loss on fair value changes on derivatives    (45) �65
allowance for foreseeable losses in value of properties under development  3,610 3�3
(Write-back)/provision for loss on onerous contracts   (1,514) 4,764
allowance for stock diminution    1,021 –
currency realignment    (610) (4,035)

Operating profit before reinvestment in working capital   11,669 8,975
decrease/(increase) in stocks    45,097 (25,555)
(increase)/decrease in debtors    (5,006) 5,254
(decrease)/increase in creditors    (33,124) 26,�59
(decrease)/increase in amounts due to related parties   (9,382) ��,292
increase in amounts due from related parties    (3,543) (3,603)
decrease/(increase) in properties under development   6,634 (33,849)
(increase)/decrease in completed properties held for sale   (757) 74
   
Cash generated from/(used in) operations    11,588 (��,253)
interest paid    (2,787) (2,825)
income taxes paid    (349) (893)
(payment)/receipt from settlement of interest rate swaps   (128) 45
   
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities   8,324 (�4,926)
   
Cash flows from investing activities:   
capital expenditure on investment properties    – (348)
interest received    691 306
liquidation of investment in associate    16 –
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   2 70
purchase of property, plant and equipment    (2,519) (959)
   
Net cash used in investing activities    (1,810) (93�)
  
Cash flows from financing activities:   
decrease in finance lease obligations    (43) (59)
(repayment)/proceeds of long-term borrowings    (889) 22,760
(repayment)/proceeds of short-term borrowings    (2,045) 4,252
dividend paid to minority interests of a subsidiary    – (20�)
dividend paid by the company    (782) (�,924)
   
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities    (3,759) 24,828
   
net increase in cash and cash equivalents    2,755 8,97�
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    21,282 �2,3��
   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 27)   24,037 2�,282
   
   

   
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

CONSOlidaTEd CaSH FlOw STaTEMENT
for the year ended 30 june 2009
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NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
30 june 2009

1. Corporate information

lion teck chiang limited is a limited liability company which is incorporated in Singapore.

the registered office and principal place of business of lion teck chiang limited is located at �0 arumugam road 
#�0-00, lion Building a, Singapore 409957.

the principal activity of the company is that of investment holding.  the subsidiary companies are primarily engaged 
in investment holding, property investment and development and steel trading.  there have been no significant 
changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial reporting 
Standards (“FrS”) as required by the Singapore companies act, cap. 50.

the financial statements of the company and the group have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the 
revaluation of certain property, plant and equipment, completed properties, investment properties and derivative 
financial instruments that have been measured at their fair values.

the accounting policies have been consistently applied by the company and the group and except for the changes in 
accounting policies discussed more fully below, are consistent with those used in the previous year.

the financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars (Sgd or S$) and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand ($’000) except when otherwise indicated.

2.2 Future changes in accounting policies

the group has not adopted the following FrS and int FrS that have been issued but not yet effective:

   Effective for annual  
   periods beginning  
Reference description on or after
  
 improvements to FrSs � January 2009  
     
FrS � - presentation of Financial Statements – revised presentation � January 2009
 - presentation of Financial Statements – amendments relating  � January 2009
  to puttable Financial instruments and obligations arising 
  on liquidation
  
FrS 23 amendment to FrS 23, Borrowing costs � January 2009
  
FrS 27 consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – � January 2009
 amendments relating to cost of an investment in a Subsidiary, 
 Jointly controlled entity or associate
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2.2 Future changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

   Effective for annual  
   periods beginning  
Reference description on or after
  
FrS 32 Financial instruments: presentation – amendments relating to  � January 2009
 puttable Financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation
  
FrS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement –  � July 2009
 amendments relating to eligible hedged items
  
FrS �0� First-time adoption of Financial reporting Standards – � January 2009
 amendments relating to cost of an investment in a Subsidiary, 
 Jointly controlled entity or associate
  
FrS �02 Share-based payment – Vesting conditions and cancellations � January 2009
  
FrS �03 revision to FrS �03 – Business combinations � July 2009
  
FrS �07 amendment to FrS �07 – improving disclosures about  � January 2009
 financial instruments
  
int FrS ��6 hedges of a net investment in a Foreign operation � october 2008
  
int FrS ��8 transfers of assets from customers � July 2009
  

  

the directors expect that the adoption of the above pronouncements will have no material impact to the financial 
statements in the period of initial application, except for FrS � as indicated below.

FrS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – revised presentation

the revised FrS � requires owner and non-owner changes in equity to be presented separately.  the statement 
of changes in equity will include only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity 
presented as a single line item.  in addition, the revised standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: 
it presents all items of income and expense recognised in profit or loss, together with all other items of recognised 
income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements.  the group is currently evaluating 
the format to adopt.

2.3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements

estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the financial statements.  
they affect the application of the group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses, and disclosures made.  they are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) useful lives of property, plant and equipment

property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives.  management 
estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to be between 3 to 30 years.  the carrying 
amount of the group’s property, plant and equipment at 30 June 2009 was $�2,825,000 (2008: $��,330,000).  
changes in the expected level of usage could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these 
assets.  as a result, future depreciation charges could be revised.

NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
30 june 2009
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NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
30 june 2009

2.3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

(b) income taxes

the group has exposure to income taxes in both Singapore and malaysia jurisdictions.  Significant judgement 
is involved in determining the group-wide provision for income taxes.  there are certain transactions and 
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  the 
group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such 
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination 
is made.  the carrying amount of the group’s tax payables and deferred tax provisions at 30 June 2009 were 
$790,000 (2008: $76,000) and $�,005,000 (2008: $904,000) respectively.

(c) impairment of loans and receivables

the group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is 
impaired.  to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the group considers factors such 
as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay 
in payments.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated 
based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. the carrying amount of the 
group’s loans and receivables at the balance sheet date is disclosed in note 35 (c) to the financial statements.

(d) construction contracts

the group recognises contract revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at 
the balance sheet date, when the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably.  For stage of 
completion measured by reference to the proportion that actual costs incurred for work performed to date bear 
to the estimated total contract costs.  Significant assumptions are required to estimate the total contract costs 
and the recoverable variation works that will affect the stage of completion.  the estimates are made based on 
past experience and knowledge of the project engineers.  the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising 
from construction contracts at the balance sheet date are disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.

 
2.4 Foreign currency translation

the management has determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which the company operates 
i.e. functional currency, to be Sgd.  Sales prices and major costs of providing goods and services including major 
operating expenses are primarily influenced by fluctuation in Sgd.

transactions in currencies other than Sgd are measured in the respective functional currencies of the company and 
its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating 
those ruling at the transaction dates.  monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
using the closing rate of exchange ruling at balance sheet date.  non-monetary assets and liabilities items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the 
initial transactions.  non-monetary items measured at fair value in foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date when fair value was determined.

all resultant exchange differences are recognised in the income statement.

on disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange differences in deferred equity relating to that 
foreign operation is recognised in the income statement as a component of the gain or loss on disposal.
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2.5 Investment in subsidiary companies

a subsidiary is a company in which the group has the power to govern the financial and operating polices so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities.  the group generally has such power when it directly or indirectly, holds more than 
50% of the issued share capital, or controls more than half of the voting power, or controls the composition of the 
board of directors.

in the company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less any 
impairment losses.

2.6 Principles of consolidation

the consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the company and its subsidiary 
companies as at the balance sheet date.  the financial statements of the subsidiary companies are prepared for the 
same reporting date as the company. consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in 
similar circumstances.

all intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions 
are eliminated in full.

acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method.  the cost of an acquisition is measured as 
the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, 
plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of 
the extent of any minority interest.

the subsidiary companies are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the group obtains 
control and continue to be consolidated until the date such control ceases.

2.7 Transactions with minority interest

minority interests represent the portion of profit and loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the group and 
are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, 
separately from parent shareholders’ equity.

2.8 Investment properties

investment properties are those properties which are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation 
or both. investments properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.  the carrying amount 
includes the cost of replacing part of an investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria 
are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property.  Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are measured at fair value and gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
investment properties are included in the income statement in the year in which they arise.

investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property 
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.  any gains or 
losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income statement in the year of 
retirement or disposal.

transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use.  For a transfer from investment 
property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of 
change in use.  For a transfer from owner occupied property to investment property, the property is accounted for in 
accordance with the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment set out in note 2.9 up to the date of change 
in use.

NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
30 june 2009
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NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
30 june 2009

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

all items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost.  the cost of item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses.  industrial buildings are stated at fair value less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses recognised after the date of the revaluation.  industrial buildings are stated at directors’ valuation 
which is based on independent professional valuation on an open market value basis.

any revaluation surplus is credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve in equity, except to the extent that it 
reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the income statement, in which case the 
increase is recognised in the income statement.  a revaluation deficit is recognised in the income statement, except 
to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset carried in the capital reserve.

revaluations are made by the directors annually to ensure their carrying amount does not differ materially from their 
fair value at the balance sheet date.

industrial buildings are revalued by an independent professional valuer at least once every five years.

any surpluses held in capital reserves in respect of previous revaluations of property, plant and equipment disposed 
off during the year are regarded as having become realised and are transferred to the accumulated earnings.

 
depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis, the estimated useful lives are as follows:

industrial buildings – 30 years
plant and machinery – 3 – �0 years
renovation – 5 – �0 years
Furniture and fittings – 8 – �0 years
office equipment – 5 – �0 years
electrical fittings – 3 – �0 years
computers – 5 years
motor vehicles – 5 – �0 years

assets under construction are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use.

the carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

the residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure that the 
amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal.  any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the income 
statement in the year the asset is derecognised.

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

the group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  if any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the group makes an estimate of 
the asset’s recoverable amount.
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2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)
an  asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets.  in assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected 
to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value.  Where the carrying amounts of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.

impairment losses are recognised in the income statement except for assets that are previously revalued where the 
revaluation was taken to equity.  in this case the impairment is also recognised in equity up to the amount of any 
previous revaluation.

an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  a previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised.  if that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount.  that increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss be recognised previously.  Such reversal is recognised in the income statement unless the 
asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.11 Financial assets

Financial assets within the scope of FrS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate.  Financial assets are recognised on 
the balance sheet when, and only when, the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instruments.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets not 
at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.  the group determines the classification of 
its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each 
financial year-end.

all regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the group 
commits to purchase the asset.  regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets classified as held for trading.  Financial assets 
classified as held for trading are derivatives or are acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in 
the near term.

derivative financial instruments whose fair value is positive are classified as financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss.  the accounting policy for derivative financial instruments is included in note 2.�5.

Loans and receivables

Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans 
and receivables.  Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.  gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables 
are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

the group classifies the following financial assets as loans and receivables:

• trade and other receivables, including amount due from subsidiary company, associated company, and related 
parties; and

• cash and bank balances and fixed deposits.

NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
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2.11 Financial assets (cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial assets

available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are not classified in any of the other categories.  after initial 
recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.  any gains or losses from changes in fair 
value of the financial asset are recognised directly in fair value adjustment reserve in equity, except that impairment 
losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary items and interest calculated using the effective interest 
method are recognised in the income statement.  the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is 
recognised in the income statement when the financial asset is derecognised.

investment in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less impairment 
loss.

the group classifies the long-term investments, which comprise of unquoted equity investments as available-for-sale 
financial assets.

 
2.12 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include trade creditors, which are normally settled on 30-90 day terms, other creditors, bank 
overdraft, interest bearing loans and borrowings, amounts due to related parties and subsidiary companies.  Financial 
liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument.  Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value of consideration received 
less directly attributable transaction cost.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for derivatives, which are measured at fair value.

derivative financial instruments whose fair value is negative are classified as financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss.  the accounting policy for derivative financial instruments is included in note 2.�5.

2.13 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

(a) Financial assets

a financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised where:

• the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

• the group retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation 
to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; or

• the group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is 
recognised to the extent of the group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  continuing involvement that takes 
the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of 
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the group could be required to repay.

on derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum 
of (a) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (b) any 
cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income statement.
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2.13 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)

(b) Financial liabilities

a financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished.  For financial 
liabilities other than derivatives, gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities 
are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.  any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value 
of derivatives are recognised in the income instatement.  net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange 
differences.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

2.14 Impairment of financial assets

the group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, 
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  the carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  the impairment loss is recognised in the income 
statement.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly or if an 
amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are written off against 
the carrying value of the financial asset.

to determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the 
group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and 
default or significant delay in payments.

if in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to 
the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.  the amount 
of reversal is recognised in the income statement.

Assets carried at cost

if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount 
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the market rate of return for a similar financial asset.  Such impairment losses are not 
reversed in subsequent periods.
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2.14 Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor, and 
the disappearance of an active trading market are considerations to determine whether there is objective evidence 
that investment securities are classified as available-for-sale are impaired. 

if an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference its cost (net of any principal 
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment cost previously recognised in the income 
statement, is transferred from equity to the income statement.  reversals of impairment losses in respect of equity 
instruments are not recognised in the income statement.  reversal of impairment losses on debt instruments are 
recognised in the income statement if the increase in fair value of the debt instrument can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement.

2.15 Derivative financial instruments

derivative financial instruments are classified as financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and 
are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date.

2.16 Properties under development

(i) properties under development are properties developed for sale.  they are stated at the lower of cost and 
estimated net realisable value.  provision is made for foreseeable losses and for diminution in value where the 
cost of any property exceeds net realisable value.  cost comprises land cost, development and construction 
expenditures, and where applicable, finance costs.  Borrowing costs incurred are capitalised up to the time 
when the property is certified by the requisite authority as being fit for occupation.

allowance for foreseeable losses on properties under development for sale is recognised in the financial 
statements as soon as the possibility of a loss is ascertained.

(ii) revenue and profit are recognised on the percentage of completion method.  these revenue and profit are 
brought into the financial statements only in respect of sale agreements finalised and in proportion to the 
extent of completion of development work undertaken.  the extent of completion is measured by reference to 
construction costs incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated construction costs for each contract.

2.17 Completed properties held for sale

completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  cost includes cost of land 
and construction, and interest expense incurred during the period of construction.

provision for diminution in value of properties held for sale is made when it is anticipated that the net realisable value 
has fallen below cost.
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2.18 Stocks

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

• raw materials – purchase cost on a weighted average cost basis; and

• Finished goods – cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads based on 
normal operating capacity.

net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

costs of stocks purchased for specific sales contracts on a back-to-back basis are accounted for using the specific 
identification method.

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents

cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.  these also include bank 
overdrafts that form an integral part of the group’s cash management.

2.20 Leases

(i) Finance lease

Finance leases, which transfer to the group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, 
at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  any initial direct costs are also added to the amount 
capitalised.  lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so 
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are charged 
to the income statement.

capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease 
term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

(ii) operating lease

(a) as lessee

operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

the aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense 
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(b) as lessor

leases where the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases.  initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to 
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental 
income (note 2.26).
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2.21 Provisions

provisions are recognised when the group and the company have a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.  if it is no longer 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the 
provision is reversed.

2.22 Financial guarantee

a financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payment to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due.

Financial guarantees are recognised initially at fair value.  Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantees are 
recognised as income in the income statement over the period of the guarantee.  if it is probable that the liability will 
be higher than the amount initially recognised less amortisation, the liability is recorded at the higher amount with 
the difference charged to the income statement.

2.23 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred except to the extent that they are capitalised.  
Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
a qualifying asset.  capitalisation of borrowing costs, commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its 
intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred.  Borrowing costs are 
capitalised until the assets are ready for their intended use or sale.

2.24 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

as required by law, the group’s subsidiary companies in Singapore and malaysia make contributions to the state 
pension scheme, the central provident Fund (“cpF”) and employee provident Fund (“epF”) respectively.  cpF and 
epF contributions are recognised as compensation expenses in the same period as the employment that give rise to 
the contribution.

Employee leave entitlements

employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to employees.  the estimated 
liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to balance sheet date.

2.25 Income taxes

(a) current tax

current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  the tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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2.25 Income taxes (cont’d)

(b) deferred tax

deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated with investment in 
subsidiary and associated companies, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can 
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised.

the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred income tax asset to be utilised.  unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity.

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set-off current 
tax assets against tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority.

(c) Sales tax

revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except where the sales tax incurred 
in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable and 
receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

the net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

 
2.26 Revenue recognition

revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured.  the following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognised.

Sale of goods

revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been passed to the 
buyer.
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2.26 Revenue recognition (cont’d)

Sale from properties development

profit is recognised as outlined in paragraph 2.�6(ii) above.

Dividends

revenue is recognised when the group’s right to receive the payment is established.

Rental

rental income arising on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Interest income

interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

2.27 Segment reporting

a business segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged in providing products or services 
that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments.  a geographical segment 
is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged in providing products or services within a particular 
economic environment and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those components operating in 
other economic environments.

Segment information is presented in respect of the group’s business and geographical segments.  the primary format, 
business segments, is based on the group’s management and internal reporting structure.  intersegment pricing is 
determined on an arm’s length basis.  Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a 
segment.  Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the financial year to acquire segment assets 
that are expected to be used for more than one year.

the group comprises 4 main business segments as follows:

• Steel trading
• property development
• property rental
• investment holding

the group operates in 2 principal geographical areas, Singapore and malaysia.  Segment revenue is based on the 
geographical location of assets.

2.28 Capital reserve

capital reserve comprises revaluation reserves for certain property, plant and equipment, properties under 
development and completed properties.
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3. investment properties

    group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
   
balance sheet:   
investment properties, at valuation and beginning of year   78,000 69,579
additions    – 348
net (loss)/gain from fair value adjustment recognised in income statement  (2,000) 8,073
   
investment properties, at end of year    76,000 78,000
      

income statement:   
rental income from investment properties    3,423 3,303
   
     
direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from:   
- rental generating properties    471 355
   

the details of the group’s investment properties are as follows:

   group’s
  approximate effective description and

location Tenure of land lettable area interest existing use
 

(i) �0 arumugam road Freehold 4,970 sq.m. �00% lion Building a / 
 Singapore 409957    industrial
    
(ii) �2 arumugam road Freehold 8,500 sq.m. �00% lion Building B / 

Singapore 409958    industrial
     
(iii) �4 arumugam road  Freehold 8,630 sq.m. �00% lion Building c / 

Singapore 409959    industrial
     
(iv) �6 arumugam road Freehold 5,03� sq.m. �00% lion Building d / 

Singapore 40996�    industrial
     

investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuation at the balance sheet 
date.  Valuations are performed by accredited independent valuer with recent experience in the location and category 
of the properties being valued.  the valuations are based on the open market value by knight Frank pte ltd on 30 
June 2009.

the investment properties have been mortgaged to secure various banking facilities as disclosed in note �6.
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4. Property, plant and equipment

     Furniture
group Construction industrial Plant and  and Office Electrical  Motor
 in progress buildings machinery Renovation fittings equipment fittings Computers vehicles Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

cost and valuation          
at � July 2008 559 �2,225 6,9�8 745 306 208 7 563 903 22,434
additions �,45� – 778 232 5 �9 – 29 5 2,5�9
disposals – – – – – (�2) – (�) – (�3)
transfer (�,956) �,956 – – – – – – – –
          
at 30 June 2009 54 �4,�8� 7,696 977 3�� 2�5 7 59� 908 24,940

          
representing:          

cost 54 2,870 7,696 977 3�� 2�5 7 59� 908 �3,629
Valuation – ��,3�� – – – – – – – ��,3��
         
 54 �4,�8� 7,696 977 3�� 2�5 7 59� 908 24,940

accumulated 
depreciation         
at � July 2008 – 3,524 5,544 594 288 �39 6 483 526 ��,�04
charge for the 

year – 450 308 93 7 �8 – 33 ��0 �,0�9
disposals – – – – – (8) – – – (8)
          
at 30 June 2009 – 3,974 5,852 687 295 �49 6 5�6 636 �2,��5

net book value 54 �0,207 �,844 290 �6 66 � 75 272 �2,825
          

cost and valuation          
at � July 2007 �,020 ��,3�� 6,699 693 428 �75 7 559 865 2�,757
additions 555 – ��7 54 4 34 – 4 �9� 959
disposals – – – – (�26) – – – (�53) (279)
transfer (�,0�6) 9�4 �02 – – – – – – –
currency 

realignment – – – (2) – (�) – – – (3)

at 30 June 2008 559 �2,225 6,9�8 745 306 208 7 563 903 22,434

representing:          
cost 559 9�4 6,9�8 745 306 208 7 563 903 ��,303
Valuation – ��,3�� – – – – – – – ��,3��
          
 559 �2,225 6,9�8 745 306 208 7 563 903 22,434

accumulated 
depreciation         
at � July 2007 – 3,096 5,266 546 406 ��9 6 450 484 �0,373
charge for the 

year – 428 278 50 8 2� – 33 �66 984
disposals – – – – (�26) – – – (�24) (250)
currency 

realignment – – – (2) – (�) – – – (3)
          
at 30 June 2008 – 3,524 5,544 594 288 �39 6 483 526 ��,�04
          

net book value 559 8,70� �,374 �5� �8 69 � 80 377 ��,330
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4. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Company
   Company
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
cost   

at � July / 30 June    6 6

accumulated depreciation   
at � July    5 4
charge for the year    – �

at 30 June    5 5

net book value   
at 30 June    1 �

(a) net book value of motor vehicles under hire purchase arrangement at 30 June 2009 is $99,5�7 (2008: $�87,436) 
(note �6).

(b) net book value of property, plant and equipment pledged as security over bills payable of the group amounted 
to $�2,357,000 (2008: $�0,974,000) (note �4).

(c) net book value of revalued assets if carried at cost less accumulated depreciation amounts to $6,�59,294 (2008: 
$6,472,522).

(d) the following are industrial buildings held by the group:

location description approx. site area Tenure of land
    
20 Woodlands loop, Factory and office building ��,203 sq.m. 30-year leasehold
Singapore   commencing
   � october �994

22 Woodlands loop, plant 9,007 sq.m. 30-year leasehold
Singapore   commencing
   � September 2002

    

the industrial buildings at 20 and 22 Woodlands loop were professionally valued by knight Frank pte ltd on 29 July 
2005.  the valuation was performed on an open market value basis.
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5. Subsidiary companies

 Company
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000

   
unquoted equity investments, at cost (note 32)   130,070 �30,070
less: impairment loss    (26,039) (26,039)

    104,031 �04,03�

Loans and receivables   
amount due from a subsidiary company    27,286 26,5�2
   
    131,317 �30,543

Financial liabilities at amortised cost   
amounts due to subsidiary companies    (14,773) (�2,835)
 

the amount due from a subsidiary company is a quasi-equity loan which represents an extension of investment in 
the subsidiary company.  it is non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free, and not due for repayment within the next 
twelve months and is denominated in Singapore dollars.

amounts due to subsidiary companies are non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free, not due for repayment within 
the next twelve months, to be settled in cash and includes an amount of $�4,64�,636 (2008: $�2,703,359) denominated 
in malaysian ringgit. the remaining amount is denominated in Singapore dollars.

as at balance sheet date, the amount due from the subsidiary company is not impaired (2008: nil).

6. associated company

 group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

unquoted equity investment, at cost (note 32) – – – –
Share of net post-acquisition reserves  – (�6) – –

Loans and receivables     
amount due from associated company  – 32 – 33

  – �6 – 33

the associated company, teck chiang investment pte ltd, was liquidated during the financial year.  the amount due 
from the associated company, net of the company’s share of post-acquisition reserves, was repaid to the company.
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7. long-term investments

 group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

       
Available-for-sale financial assets      
unquoted equity investments,  at cost  5,884 5,884 380 380
less: impairment loss  (2,199) (2,�99) – –

  3,685 3,685 380 380

club memberships  193 �93 – –
less: impairment loss  (158) (�58) – –

  35 35 – –

  3,720 3,720 380 380

8. Properties under development

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
   
land    52,078 58,25�
Borrowing costs capitalised    1,621 �,296
development costs    13,869 �6,690

    67,568 76,237
attributable profit    4,321 5,830

    71,889 82,067
allowance for foreseeable losses    (4,663) (�,222)

    67,226 80,845
progress billings    (9,784) (�3,2�9)

    57,442 67,626
   

the following expense incurred during the year has been capitalised in properties under development:

Borrowing costs    993 862

as at 30 June 2009, a parcel of the above land recorded in the book of a subsidiary company has not yet been 
registered under the subsidiary company’s name.  the land and development costs, net of progress billings and 
attributable profits incurred on this piece of land amounted to $�,245,089 (2008: $�,257,�77).
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8. Properties under development (cont’d)

certain properties under development are mortgaged as detailed in note �6 to the financial statements.

the details of the group’s properties under development are as follows:

   Percentage
   of completion 
   at 30.6.2009/ Site area/ group’s description
  Tenure expected date gross floor effective and existing
 Property of land of completion area interest use
      
 Malaysia     
      
(i) kawasan Bandar 99 years planning �.30 hectares/ �00% 36 units of

Xlii district of  stage �5,2�6 sq.m.  4-storey
melaka tengah     shop/apartment

     
(ii) lot 8243 (formerly Freehold planning �84.33 hectares �00% residential,

lot �9�6) mukim  stage   commercial and
tanjung duabelas,     industrial land
district of
kuala langat,
Selangor

     
(iii) lot �644, �645, Freehold ��% �.92 hectares/ �00% 47 units double-

�647 & �648  may 20�0 8,4�7 sq.m.  storey terrace
mukim tanjung     houses
duabelas daerah  
district of kuala langat,   planning 8.20 hectares/ �00% 480 units of low
Selangor  stage  35,977 sq.m.  cost flats and
     32 units 

      low cost shops

(iv) lot 2090 Freehold planning 0.58 hectares/ �00% 80 units of low
mukim plentong  stage 6,3�7 sq.m.  cost flats
district of Johor Bahru,
Johor

Singapore     
      
(v) lot 96407t mk 25 Freehold 85% 9�5.3 sq.m./ �00% 2 units of 2-storey

30 Wareham road  oct 2009 82�.4 sq.m.  detached houses

(vi) lot 96927p, 96929a Freehold planning 3,078.3 sq.m. �00% �4 units of 2-storey
mk 25  stage   strata detached 
7 crescent road     houses
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9. Completed properties held for sale

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
   
Freehold and leasehold land    9,083 8,072
construction costs    21,548 2�,950
interest capitalised    1,955 �,832
   
    32,586 3�,854

   
   

certain completed properties held for sale are mortgaged as detailed in note �6 to the financial statements.

the details of the group’s completed properties held for sale are as follows:

    group’s description
   Site area/ effective and existing
 Property Tenure of land gross floor area interest use

 Malaysia
     
(i) kawasan Bandar 99 years lease 8.92 hectares/ �00% 280 units of

Xlii district of (expiring in 2090) �04,5�6 sq.m.  4-storey
melaka tengah    shop/office
       
  0.33 hectares/ �00% �2 units of
  5,072 sq.m.  4-storey
    shop/apartment
    

(ii) lot 3066 & 3067 Freehold 3.�9 hectares/ �00% hypermarket
mukim tebrau  20,24� sq.m.
district of Johor
Bahru, Johor  2.28 hectares/ �00% �80 units of
  25,7�5 sq.m.  double-storey
    terrace houses

  0.79 hectares/  �00% 48 units of shop  
  �5,080 sq.m.  houses
    
  �.04 hectares/ �00% �54 units of low
  �0,582 sq.m.  cost flats

(iii) lot 2090 Freehold 0.66 hectares/ �00% ��2 units of low
mukim plentong  7,265 sq.m.  cost flats
district of Johor
Bahru, Johor      

Singapore    
    

(iv) lot 98384 Freehold �,322.4 sq.m./ �00% 3 units of 
mukim 25  �,359.3 sq.m.  double storey 
�20 Branksome road    detached houses
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10. Stocks

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
   
trading stocks    13,123 44,780
goods in transit    23 90
raw material    11,984 25,237
remnant    57 �77
  
    25,187 70,284
allowance for stock diminution    (1,021) –
 
    24,166 70,284

the group has pledged a floating charge over the stocks as security over the bills payable (note �4).

11. Trade debtors

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
   
Loans and receivables   
trade receivables    23,961 �6,�25
less: allowance for doubtful debts    – (3)

    23,961 �6,�22
   
   

trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days’ terms.  they are recognised at their 
original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

the group has pledged a floating charge over the trade debtors net of allowance for uncollectible amounts, amounting 
to $2�,235,000 (2008: $�5,5�4,000) as security over the bills payable (note �4).

included in the trade debtors of the group is an amount of $2,0�8,797 and $8,229 (2008: $456,8�7 and $6�7,489) 
denominated in malaysian ringgit and uS dollars respectively.  the remaining amount is denominated in Singapore 
dollars.

the group held security deposits of $�,309,805 as at 30 June 2009 (2008: $�,�5�,000) from tenants against the trade 
receivables of its property rental business.
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11. Trade debtors (cont’d)

receivables that are past due but not impaired:

the group has trade receivables amounting to $2,647,000 (2008: $�,368,000) that are past due at the balance sheet 
date but not impaired.  these receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their ageing at the balance sheet date is 
as follows:

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
Trade receivables past due:   
less than 30 days    961 �,004
30 to 60 days    424 �76
60 to 90 days    243 –
more than 90 days    1,019 �88

    2,647 �,368

Receivables that are impaired

the group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the balance sheet date and the movement of the allowance accounts 
used to record the impairment are as follows:

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
trade receivables – nominal amounts    – 3
less: allowance for doubtful debts    – (3)

    – –

Movement in allowance accounts:   
at � July    3 �36

Written back    – (4)
Written off    (3) (�29)

at 30 June    – 3
   
   

trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet date relates to debtors that are 
in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments.
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12. Other debtors

 group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-financial assets     
prepayments  687 522 – –

Loans and receivables     
deposits  360 3,038 – –
tax recoverable  – �08 – –
Sundry debtors  101 3�3 2 2

  461 3,459 2 2

Fair value through profit and loss      
Financial derivatives  3 – – –

  1,151 3,98� 2 2
         
       

the group has pledged a floating charge over the loans and receivables, amounting to $357,000 (2008: $3,23�,000) as 
security over the bills payable (note �4).

included in the other debtors of the group is an amount of $433,88� and $6,25� (2008: $562,347 and $nil) denominated 
in malaysian ringgit and uS dollars respectively.  the remaining amount is denominated in Singapore dollars.

at the balance sheet date, the deposits and sundry debtors of the group are not impaired (2008: nil).

13. amounts due from/(to) related parties

 group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Loans and receivables   
trade related  4,875 832 – –
non-trade related (a)  5,257 5,757 – –

  10,132 6,589 – –

Financial liabilities at amortised cost     
trade related  (14,569) (23,829) – –
non-trade related (b)  (398) (520) (22) (22)

  (14,967) (24,349) (22) (22)

trade amounts are unsecured, interest-free, repayable within trade credit terms and to be settled in cash.
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13. amounts due from/(to) related parties (cont’d)

(a) non-trade amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, have no fixed terms of repayment, to be settled in cash 
except for an amount of $5,2�8,8�5 (2008: $5,709,374) that bears interest at 8% (2008: 8%) per annum and is to 
be repaid in fixed instalments within �2 months of the balance sheet date.  receivables from related parties are 
recognised and carried at cost less impairment losses on any uncollectible amounts.

the group has pledged a floating charge over the amounts due from related parties, amounting to $nil (2008: 
$��3,894) as security over the bills payable (note �4).

included in the amounts due from related parties of the group are amounts of $5,254,940 (2008: $6,436,976) 
dominated in malaysian ringgit.  the remaining amounts are dominated in Singapore dollars.

(b) non-trade amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, have no fixed terms of repayment, to be settled in cash 
except for an amount of $3�9,�4� (2008: $294,496) that bears interest at 8% (2008: 8%) per annum.

included in the amount due to related parties of the group are amounts of $626,759 and $�3,790,353 (2008: 
$�,667,732 and $�7,022,382) denominated in malaysian ringgit and uS dollars respectively.  the remaining 
amount is denominated in Singapore dollars.

at the balance sheet date, the group has provided an allowance of $9,599 (2008: $9,599) for impairment of the trade 
related amount due from a related party with nominal amounts of $9,599 (2008: $9,599).  this related party has been 
suffering significant financial losses.

there has been no movement in this allowance account for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 (2008: Write-back 
of $�0,042).

14. Trade creditors

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
Financial liabilities at amortised cost   
   
trade creditors   
- current    4,793 �8,07�
- non-current    370 254
Bills payable    17,445 �8,�57

    22,608 36,482
   

   

included in the trade creditors of the group is an amount of $936,��7 (2008: $�,208,784) denominated in malaysian 
ringgit.  the remaining amount is denominated in Singapore dollars.

Bills payable of the group is secured by letters of comfort from the company and a floating charge over all assets of 
a subsidiary company.
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15. Other creditors

 group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-financial liabilities     
advance payment from customers  7,413 23,695 – –
provision for loss on onerous contracts  3,250 4,764 – –

  10,663 28,459 – –
Financial liabilities at amortised cost     
deposits received  287 287 – –
Sundry creditors  632 �,078 1 3
accruals  1,001 �,003 181 �93
accrued development cost  1,327 3,848 – –

  3,247 6,2�6 182 �96
Financial liabilities at fair value     
derivative instruments  49 �58 – –

  13,959 34,833 182 �96
       
       

included in the other creditors of the group is an amount of $8,998,684 (2008: $�0,646,849) denominated in malaysian 
ringgit.

provision for loss on onerous contracts represents the estimated loss resulting from steel trading, whereby the group 
has an obligation to purchase steel at a higher market price to fulfil sales contracts entered into previously at lower 
contracted prices that were based on market steel prices that were prevailing then.

16. interest-bearing loans and borrowings
 
 group

    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
Financial liabilities at amortised cost   
payable within �2 months:   
 Bank overdraft, secured (note 27)    2,457 744
 Bank loans, secured    4,837 2,752
 term loan, secured    989 832
 revolving credit facility, secured    500 25,000
 lease liabilities, secured    44 44

     8,827 29,372

payable after �2 months:   
 Bank loans, secured    19,950 24,080
 term loan, secured    4,820 5,866
 revolving credit facility, secured    24,500 –
 lease liabilities, secured    41 84

     49,311 30,030
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16. interest-bearing loans and borrowings (cont’d)

Bank loans are secured on some of the group’s completed properties and properties under development with a 
carrying value of $39,800,499 (2008: $44,72�,763).

the bank overdraft and revolving credit facility are secured on the first legal mortgage over the group’s investment 
properties, first equity mortgage on the company’s ��,5�8,000 shares in angkasa hong leong pte ltd and personal 
guarantees of certain directors.

the term loan is secured by one of the group’s completed properties with a carrying value of $�6,866,75� (2008: 
$�7,030,506).

the future minimum lease payments under hire purchase together with the present value of the net minimum lease 
payments are as follows:

    Present  Present
  Minimum value of Minimum value of
  payments payments payments payments
  2009 2009 2008 2008
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost     
Within one year  49 44 49 44
after one year but not more  than five years  46 41 94 84

total minimum lease payments  95 85 �43 �28
less: amount representing finance charges  (10) – (�5) –

present value of minimum lease payments  85 85 �28 �28
       

these obligations are secured by a charge over the leased assets (note 4).

all amounts under finance lease arrangement are denominated in Singapore dollars.
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17. deferred taxation

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
Deferred tax assets   
Balance at beginning of year    1,781 �,334
recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses   431 594
utilisation of deferred tax assets    (998) (�65)
reversal based on sale of development properties   8 (2)
underprovision in prior years    220 69
effect of changes in statutory tax rate   

- Singapore    (88) –
- malaysia    (20) (34)

currency alignment    (3) (�5)

Balance at end of year    1,331 �,78�

Deferred tax liabilities   
Balance at beginning of year    904 845
movement in temporary differences    88 24
underprovision in prior year    67 35
effect of changes in statutory tax rate - Singapore   (54) –

Balance at end of year    1,005 904

the deferred taxation arises as a result of:   
   
deferred tax assets   

- unabsorbed tax losses carried forward    1,114 �,575
- other timing differences    323 �39
- revaluation of assets    (106) 67

    1,331 �,78�

deferred tax liabilities   
- revaluation of assets    263 278
- excess of net book value over tax written down value   742 626

    1,005 904
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18. Share capital

 Company
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
issued and fully paid:  

Balance at beginning and end of year:  �56,453,000 ordinary shares  150,113 �50,��3
   

the holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the company.  all ordinary 
shares carry one vote per share without restriction.

19. Revenues
 
 group

    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
revenues consisted of the following:   
   
Sales of goods    190,164 �58,368
Sales from property development    11,727 8,237
dividend income from unquoted investments   44 67
rental and service revenue    5,053 5,227

    206,988 �7�,899

20. Other revenues

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
other revenues included the following:   
   
(loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment   (3) 4�
interest income derived from loans and receivables   691 306
management and consultancy income    – 4�9

   
   

included in the interest income from non-trade receivables is an amount of $537,�55 (2008: $45,8�3) from related 
party for non-trade related balances (note �3).
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21. Cost of sales

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
included in cost of sales are the following items:   
   
Staff and related costs    1,779 �,558
operating lease expenses    519 554
(Write-back)/provision for loss on onerous contracts   (1,514) 4,764
allowance for stock diminution    1,021 –

   

22. Salaries and employee benefits

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
directors of the company and its subsidiary companies   

- directors’ remuneration    445 433
- cpF contributions    18 �8

key management personnel of the company and its subsidiary companies   
- employees’ remuneration    488 494
- cpF contributions    32 36

Staff costs   
- Salaries and other benefits    1,571 �,3�0
- cpF and other defined contributions    172 �34

    2,726 2,425

the remuneration is paid to directors and key management officers in their capacity as employees.

    2009 2008
   
number of directors in remuneration bands:   

$250,000 to below $500,000    1 �
Below $250,000    5 5

    6 6
 
  
number of key management officers in remuneration bands:   

Below $250,000    5 5
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23. Operating profit

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):   
   
directors’ fees    85 82
allowance for doubtful debts    – 59
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net    969 (926)
(gain)/loss on fair value changes on derivatives   (45) �65
carriage outwards    1,025 628
allowance for foreseeable losses in value of properties under development  3,610 3�3

   

24. Finance costs

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
interest on amounts due to related parties    449 69
interest on bank overdrafts    93 44
interest on revolving credit facilities and bank loans   634 �,048
interest on hire purchase    6 8
interest on trust receipts    1,205 �,572
others    400 84

    2,787 2,825
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25. Taxation

major components of income tax expense for the year ended 30 June were:

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
current taxation:   

Singapore    779 –
Foreign    308 �9�

deferred taxation:   
Singapore    461 (570)
Foreign    185 �65

under/(over) provision in respect of prior years:   
current taxation    (34) 64
deferred taxation    (135) (34)

adjustments for reduction in statutory tax rate:   
Singapore    34 –
malaysia    16 40

    1,614 (�44)
   

For the financial year ended 30 June 2009, the Singapore government announced a �% reduction in statutory tax rate, 
from �8% to �7%, from Year of assessment 20�0.  For the same basis year, there is a �% reduction in the malaysia 
statutory tax rate from 26% to 25%.

the group has unabsorbed tax losses amounting to approximately $3,029,000 (2008: $4,979,000) available for offset 
against future taxable income subject to the agreement of inland revenue authority of Singapore and compliance 
with certain provisions of the Singapore income tax act.  the deferred tax benefit relating to these trade losses of 
approximately $5�5,000 (2008: $896,000) has not been recognised in the financial statements as its realisation is not 
certain at this juncture.

a reconciliation between the tax (credit)/expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable 
tax rates is as follows:

accounting profit    4,089 �2,379

tax at statutory rate of �7% (2008: �8%)    695 2,228
tax effect on expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit  1,270 �25
tax effect on income not taxable in determining taxable profit   (56) (�,643)
(over)/under provision of tax in respect of prior years   (34) 64
overprovision of deferred taxation in respect of prior years   (135) (34)
tax effect on different tax rate of other country   158 ��8
Benefits from previously unrecognised tax losses   (431) (�,�40)
tax effect on benefit from operating losses not recorded   97 98
effect of change in statutory tax rate    50 40

    1,614 (�44)
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26. Earning per share

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
     
net earning attributable to ordinary shareholders   429 �2,498

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for calculation
of basic and fully diluted earnings per share (‘000)   156,453 �56,453

    Cents cents
   
earning per share – basic and diluted    0.3 8.0

27. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at the 
balance sheet date:

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
    
Loans and receivables   
cash and bank balances    24,609 20,55�
Fixed deposits    1,885 �,475

    26,494 22,026
Financial liabilities at amortised cost     
Bank overdraft, secured (note �6)    (2,457) (744)

    24,037 2�,282
   

the interest rate on fixed deposits ranged from �.3% to 3.7% (2008: �.25% to 3.7%) per annum.  the maturity dates 
of these deposits range from � July 2009 to �0 march 20�0 (2008: 9 July 2008 to 27 July 2008).  included in the fixed 
deposits is an amount of $26�,�85 (2008: $�09,4�3) which is pledged for certain credit facilities not yet utilised as at 
year end.

included in the cash and bank balances is an amount of $4,928,65� (2008: $4,547,3�9) held pursuant to a foreign 
housing development act and therefore restricted from use in other operations.

the group has pledged a floating charge over the cash and cash equivalents, amounting to $�8,973,�63 (2008: 
$�3,484,692) as security over the bills payable (note �4).

included in the cash and cash equivalents of the group is an amount of $6,875,385 and $95,379 (2008: $6,463,�08 and 
$29,798) denominated in malaysian ringgit and the uS dollars respectively.  the remaining amounts are denominated 
in Singapore dollars.
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28. dividends

no dividend is proposed for the financial year ended 30 June 2009.

 group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
    
2008: Final dividend of 0.5 cents per share less tax of �8%   – 782
   
   

29. Related party transactions

parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party, or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  parties are also 
considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence.  related parties may 
be individuals or corporate entities.

in addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following are the 
transactions entered into by the group and the company with related parties:

 group Company
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

dividend income  – – – 2,327
management fee paid  77 73 77 73
purchases of goods  58,151 74,398 – –
rental expense  – – 27 23
rental and service income  (310) (�,335) – –
Sale of completed property  (5,100) – – –
Sales of scrap  – (�9,379) – –
      
 

30. Commitments and contingencies

(i) operating lease commitments:

rental expenses (principally for warehouse and factory) for the year were $5�9,000 (2008: $554,000) for the 
group.

Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable leases are as follows:

 group
    2009 2008

    $’000 $’000
    
Within one year    506 506
after one year but not more than five years   2,022 2,022
more than five years    7,232 7,738

    9,760 �0,266
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30. Commitments and contingencies (cont’d)

 
(i) operating lease commitments (cont’d):

Future minimum lease payments receivable (principally for rental income from investment properties and 
completed properties) under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows as of 30 June:

 group
    2009 2008

    $’000 $’000
    
not later than one year    3,872 4,033
later than one year but not later than five years   1,013 2,046

    4,885 6,079
   
  

(ii) capital commitments:

capital expenditure contracted for as at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statements 
are as follows:

 group and Company
    2009 2008

    $’000 $’000
    
capital commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment  278 2,249

(iii) contingent liabilities:

 Company
    2009 2008

    $’000 $’000
    
guarantees given by the company to banks in connection with 

bank facilities provided to subsidiary companies   83,879 90,468
   
  
amount utilised in respect of guarantees issued at 30 June  62,064 63,284
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31. Segment information

business segments
  Property  Property investment
 Steel trading development  rental holding Eliminations Consolidated
  2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

revenue            
Sales to external 

customers �90,�64 �58,368 ��,727 8,237 5,053 5,227 – – – – 206,944 �7�,832
investment income – – – – – – 44 2,394 – (2,327) 44 67
intersegment sales – – – – 27 23 – – (27) (23) – –
other revenue 294 387 30 �27 97 (99) �5 – – – 436 4�5

 �90,458 �58,755 ��,757 8,364 5,�77 5,�5� 59 2,394 (27) (2,350) 207,424 �72,3�4
unallocated revenue           69� 725

total revenues           208,��5 �73,039

Segment results 6,262 6,527 2,9�2 �,8�9 3,�99 3,62� (380) 2,568 – (2,327) ��,993 �2,208
provision for onerous

contract losses �,5�4 (4,764) – – – – – – – – �,5�4 (4,764)
allowance for foreseeable 

loss on properties 
under development – – (3,6�0) (3�3) – – – – – – (3,6�0) (3�3)

Write-down of stocks (�,02�) – – – – – – – – – (�,02�) –
Fair value gain on 

investment properties – – – – (2,000) 8,073 – – – – (2,000) 8,073

operating profit/(loss) 6,755 �,763 (698) �,506 �,�99 ��,694 (380) 2,568 – (2,327) 6,876 �5,204
Finance costs           (2,787) (2,825)

profit before tax           4,089 �2,379
taxation           (�,6�4) �44

net profit for the year           2,475 �2,523
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31. Segment information (cont’d)

business segments
  Property  Property investment
 Steel trading development  rental holding Eliminations Consolidated
  2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

assets and liabilities            
Segment assets 77,47� ��3,742 �02,385 �09,073 �00,660 98,868 3�,035 30,252 (43,074) (40,403) 268,477 3��,532
tax assets           �,33� �,78�
investment in 

associated 
company           – �6

total assets           269,808 3�3,329

      
Segment liabilities 39,�63 80,3�5 �0,0�7 �3,462 29,409 28,�55 �6,0�9 �4,�35 (43,074) (40,403) 5�,534 95,664
tax liability           �,795 980
loans and borrowings           58,�38 59,402

total liabilities           ���,467 �56,046

    
other segment 

information            
depreciation of property,  

plant and equipment 846 793 – 5 �72 �85 � � – – �,0�9 984
capital expenditure 2,233 74� – – 286 2�8 – – – – 2,5�9 959

geographical segments
 Singapore Malaysia Eliminations Consolidated
 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
         
      
Segment revenue        

Sales to external 
customers 200,445 �65,8�3 6,499 6,0�9 – – 206,944 �7�,832

investment income 44 67 – – – – 44 67
inter-segment sales 27 23 – – (27) (23) – –
other revenue 406 288 30 �27 – – 436 4�5

         
total revenues 200,922 �66,�9� 6,529 6,�46 (27) (23) 207,424 �72,3�4

        
other geographical 

information:       
Segment assets 203,630 242,853 79,453 8�,382 (�4,606) (�2,703) 268,477 3��,532
capital expenditure 2,5�9 959 – – – – 2,5�9 959
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NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
30 june 2009

32. Subsidiary and associated companies

the subsidiary and associated companies at 30 June are:

  Country of
  incorporation and Percentage of
Name of company Principal activities place of business equity held
        2009 2008
    % %
Subsidiary companies   
    
Held by the Company:   
    
* che kiang realty Sdn Bhd property development malaysia 100 �00
     
 teck chiang realty  investment holding, property  Singapore 100 �00
 private limited investment and development
  and general merchants    

 
 angkasa hong leong importers, exporters and  Singapore 50 50
 pte ltd distributors of steel and iron   plus 1 plus � 

 products and commission  share share 
 agents    

 ltc Building materials Steel trading Singapore 100 �00
 pte ltd 
    
 Held through Teck Chiang
 Realty Private Limited:   
    
 teck chiang (international) investment holding Singapore 100 �00
 pte ltd
     
 Held through Angkasa
 Hong Leong Pte Ltd:   
    
 angkasa Welded mesh dormant Singapore 51 5�
 pte ltd
     
associated company   
    
# teck chiang investment dormant Singapore – 50
 pte ltd 
    

* audited by ernst & Young, malaysia (associate firm of ernst & Young llp, Singapore).

# liquidated during the financial year.
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33. Financial risk management objectives and policies

the group and the company is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial 
instruments.  the key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.  
the Board of directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks.  the audit 
committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process.  it is, and has been 
throughout the current and previous financial year the group’s policy that no derivatives shall be undertaken except 
for the use as hedging instruments where appropriate and cost-efficient.  the group and the company do not apply 
hedge accounting.

the following sections provide details regarding the group’s and company’s exposure to the above-mentioned 
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

(a) credit risk

credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on 
its obligations.  the group’s and the company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade receivables.  
For other financial assets (including cash and cash equivalents and derivatives), the group and the company 
minimise credit risk by dealing with high credit rating counterparties.

the group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased 
credit risk exposure.  the group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.  it is the group’s 
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.  in 
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the group’s exposure to 
bad debts is not significant.

Exposure to credit risk

at the balance sheet date, the group’s and the company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by:

– the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheets, including derivatives 
with positive fair values; and

– a nominal amount of $62,064,000 (2008: $63,284,000) relating to corporate guarantees provided by the 
company for the bank loans taken by subsidiary companies.

information regarding credit enhancements for trade receivables is disclosed in note ��.

NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
30 june 2009

33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) credit risk (cont’d)

Credit risk concentration profile

the analysis of the group’s trade receivables by geographical and business segments are as follows:

  2009  2008 
 Note $’000 % of total $’000 % of total

group      
  
by geographical:     
Singapore  21,489 90 �5,420 96
malaysia  2,472 10 702 4

  23,961 100 �6,�22 �00

by business:     
Steel trading  21,235 89 �5,5�4 96
property development  2,435 10 458 3
property rental  291 1 �50 �

  23,961 100 �6,�22 �00

the group determines credit risk concentration for its Steel and property related businesses separately.

Property development and property rental business

trade debtors for these business segments do not have concentration of credit risk as the customers are 
individuals or corporates of diverse background or nature.

Steel business

there is no significant concentration of credit risk except that customers are predominantly in the construction 
industry.  as at 30 June 2009, approximately 50% (2008: 47%) of the trade debtors of the Steel business are due 
from the top 4 customers who are key players in the local construction industry.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment 
record with the group.  cash and cash equivalents and derivatives that are neither past due nor impaired are 
placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in note ��.
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33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b) liquidity risk

liquidity risk is the risk that the group or the company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations 
due to shortage of funds.  the group’s and the company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from 
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities.  the group’s and the company’s objective is to 
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.

the Board and the management of the group constantly reviews its cash and borrowing position to ensure that 
the group maintains sufficient liquidity to meets its obligations as and when they fall due.

the table in note 35 (b) summarises the maturity profile of the group’s and the company’s financial liabilities at 
the balance sheet date based on contractual undiscounted payments.

(c) interest rate risk

interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the group’s and the company’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  the group’s and the company’s exposure 
to interest rate risk arises primarily from their interest-bearing financial liabilities.

the group’s policy is to manage interest cost using a mix of fixed and floating rate debts.  to manage this mix 
in a cost-efficient manner, the group enters into interest rate swap.  at the balance sheet date, after taking info 
account into the effect of an interest rate swap, approximately 9% (2008: �7%) of the group’s interest-bearing 
financial liabilities are at fixed interest rates.  the table in note 35(b) summarises the interest-bearing financial 
liabilities of the group and the company.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

at the balance sheet date, if interest rates had been 75 (2008: 75) basis points lower/higher with all other variables 
held constant, the group’s profit net of tax would have been $485,000 (2008: $460,000) higher/lower, arising 
mainly as a result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate interest-bearing financial liabilities.

(d) Foreign currency risk

the group enters into fixed price contracts, mainly in uS dollars (uSd) and malaysian ringgit (rm), with its 
suppliers for the purchase of steel.  the group is thus exposed to transactional foreign currency exposure 
dependent on the timing of its future purchases and when the liabilities are settled or are converted into the 
functional currency. approximately 76% (2008: 82%) of the group’s steel purchases is denominated in foreign 
currencies.

unless there is persistent weakness in the trend of the uSd, the group uses forward currency contracts to 
hedge between 50% to �00% of its anticipated steel purchases denominated in uSd.

due to the persistent weakness of the uSd towards the end of the financial year, the group’s hedge of its foreign 
currency denominated purchases as at 30 June 2009 was only 26% (2008: nil).

the group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investment in a subsidiary in malaysia.  
the group uses its borrowings from the subsidiary denominated in malaysian ringgit as a natural partial hedge 
against its cost of investment.

NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
30 june 2009

33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(d) Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

the following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the uSd and ringgit 
exchange rate (against Sgd), with all other variables held constant, of the group’s profit net of tax and equity.

  2009  2008
  Profit  Profit
  net of tax Equity net of tax Equity
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     
uSd     
- strengthened 6% (2008: 4%)  (402) (402) (553) (553)
- weakened 6% (2008: 4%)  402 402 553 553
     
RM     
- strengthened �% (2008: �%)  (112) (112) (�05) (�05)
- weakened �% (2008: �%)  112 112 �05 �05

       

34. Capital management

the primary objective of the group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains  healthy capital ratios in order 
to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

the group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.  to 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares.  no changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 
ended 30 June 2008 and 2009.

the group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total equity plus net debt.  the group 
includes within net debt, loans and borrowings, trade and other creditors, amounts due to related parties, less cash, 
bank balances and fixed deposits.  equity includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the company and 
minority interests.

as at 30 June 2009, the gearing ratio of the group was 34% (2008: 46%).

    group
    2009 2008
    $’000 $’000
   
loans and borrowings (note �6)    58,138 59,402
trade and other payables (note �4 and �5)    36,567 7�,3�5
amounts due to related parties (note �3)    14,967 24,349
cash, bank balances and fixed deposits (note 27)   (26,494) (22,026)
     
net debt    83,178 �33,040
   
total equity    158,341 �57,283
     
equity and net debt    241,519 290,323
     
gearing ratio    34% 46%
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35. Financial instruments

(a) Fair values

the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, and 
short term loans approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

the present value of lease payments, as disclosed in note �6, approximates the fair value of hire purchase 
creditors.

the carrying amount of long-term bank loan approximates its fair value as interest is charged at a floating 
rate.

the amounts due from/to subsidiaries have no repayment terms and are repayable only when there is availability 
of cash flows.  accordingly, the fair values of the amounts are not determinable as the timing of the future cash 
flows arising from the amounts cannot be estimated reliably.

it is not practicable to determine with sufficient reliability the fair value of the unquoted equity investments 
because of the lack of quoted market prices and the ability to estimate fair value without incurring excessive 
costs. however management is of the opinion that the carrying amounts recorded as at balance sheet date, 
in accordance with the company’s accounting policies, are not in excess of the recoverable amount of the 
unquoted equity investments.

the fair value of derivative instruments are as follows:

 group
  Total aggregate
  Notional amount net fair value
  2009 2008 2009 2008
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     
interest rate swap contract  5,000 �0,000 (49) (�2�)
Forward foreign exchange contracts  5,519 – 3 –
       

the fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for 
contracts with similar maturity profiles.  the fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by reference 
to market values for similar instruments.

the company did not enter into any other derivative instrument for the year ended 30 June 2009 and 30 June 
2008.
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NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
30 june 2009

35. Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities at the balance sheet date based on contractual undiscounted 
payments.

  2009    2008
  Effective    2 to 5 Effective    2 to 5
 Note rate Maturity Total 1 year years rate Maturity Total 1 year  years
  %  $’000 $’000 $’000 %  $’000 $’000 $’000

group

Financial  liabilities
trade creditors           
– current �4 – – 4,793 4,793 – – – �8,07� �8,07� –
– non-current �4 – – 370 – 370 – – 254 – 254
– Bill payables �4 3.00 – 5.�0 2009 �7,445 �7,445 – 3.58 – 5.03 2008 �8,�57 �8,�57 –
Bank overdraft            
– S$ floating rate �6 5.25 on demand 2,457 2,457 – 5.25 on demand 744 744 –
Bank loan           
– S$ floating rate �6 �.55 – 3.8� 20�0 25,294 4,889 20,405 2.85 – 4.20 2009 – 20�0 28,�69 2,802 25,367
term loan           
– ringgit floating rate �6 6.�75 – 7.375 20�4 6,848 �,050 5,798 7.375 2009 7,336 893 6,443
revolving credit facility           
– S$ floating rate �6 �.92 – 3.75 20�2 27,�92 5�2 26,680 2.69 – 4.37 2009 25,5�� 25,5�� –
lease liabilities �6 4.26 – 6.05 20�0 – 20�2 95 49 46 4.26 – 6.05 20�0 – 20�2 �43 49 94

    84,494 3�,�95 53,299   98,385 66,227 32,�58

certain undiscounted payments differ from the carrying amount in the balance sheet as the balance sheet 
amounts are based on discounted cash flows.
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35. Financial instruments (cont’d)

(c) classification of financial instruments

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts of all the group’s and company’s financial 
instruments that are carried in the financial statements:

 group Company
 Note 2009 2008 2009 2008
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Financial assets      
  
available for sale     
long-term investments 7 3,720 3,720 380 380

 
Fair value through profit or loss    
other debtors �2 3 – – –

   
loan and receivables     
trade debtors �� 23,961 �6,�22 – –
other debtors �2 461 3,459 2 2
Subsidiary companies 5 – – 27,286 26,5�2
associate company 6 – 32 – 33
amount due from related parties �3 10,132 6,589 – –
Fixed deposits 27 1,885 �,475 – –
cash and bank balances 27 24,609 20,55� 15 6

  61,048 48,228 27,303 26,553

Financial liabilities
      
Fair value through profit or loss    
other creditors �5 49 �58 – –

at amortised cost     
trade creditors �4 22,608 36,482 – –
other creditors �5 3,247 6,2�6 1 3
interest-bearing loans

and borrowings �6 58,138 59,402 – –
amounts due to subsidiary

companies 5 – – 14,773 �2,835
amounts due to related parties �3 14,967 24,349 22 22
  
  98,960 �26,449 14,796 �2,860

        
        
36. authorisation of financial statements

the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the directors on � September 2009.

NOTES TO THE FiNaNCial STaTEMENTS
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issued and fully paid-up capital : $�50,��2,500
no. of shares issued : �56,453,000 ordinary shares
class of shares : ordinary shares fully paid
Voting right : � Vote per share
no. of treasury shares held :  nil

diSTRibuTiON OF SHaREHOldiNgS aS aT 9 SEPTEMbER 2009

Size of shareholdings  No. of shareholders % No. of Shares %

� – 999  �,�04 ��.27 327,845 0.2�
�,000 – �0,000  8,007 8�.72 �5,578,034 9.96
�0,00� – �,000,000  675 6.89 35,950,07� 22.98
�,000,00� and above  �2 0.�2 �04,597,050 66.85

total  9,798 �00.00 �56,453,000 �00.00

TwENTy laRgEST SHaREHOldERS aS aT 9 SEPTEMbER 2009

No. Name of shareholders   No. of shares %
       
   
�  lion investment (Singapore) pte ltd   53,�00,000 33.94
2  uoB kay hian pte ltd   �0,282,200 6.57
3  lion realty pte ltd   9,950,000 6.36
4  lion holdings Sdn Bhd   6,498,57� 4.�5
5  the Brooklands Selangor rubber co. limited   5,583,000 3.57
6  andalas development Sdn. Bhd.   4,96�,000 3.�7
7  neo aik Soo   3,49�,000 2.23
8  lion enterprise (kuala lumpur) Sdn Bhd   3,45�,429 2.2�
9  umatrac enterprises Sdn Bhd   3,275,000 2.09
�0 morph investments ltd   �,448,000 0.93
�� dBS Vickers Securities (S) pte ltd   �,395,850 0.89
�2 united overseas Bank nominees pte ltd   �,�6�,000 0.74
�3 tan Boon kay   965,000 0.62
�4 Yim chee tong   948,000 0.6�
�5 ching kwong Yew   935,000 0.60
�6 Vellayappan s/o karrupiah   849,000 0.54
�7 phillip Securities pte ltd   807,674 0.52
�8 ng chwee cheng   708,000 0.45
�9 thiang thin poh Joseph   650,000 0.42
20 hoo len Yuh   568,000 0.36

  total:   ���,027,724 70.97

SHaREHOldiNgS iN THE HaNdS OF PubliC aS aT 9 SEPTEMbER 2009

on the basis of the information available to the company, approximately 37.2% of the equity securities of the company are 
held in the hands of the public. this is in compliance with rule 723 of the listing manual of the SgX-St, which requires at 
least �0% of a listed issuer's equity securities to be held by the public. 

aNalySiS OF SHaREHOldiNgS
as at 9 September 2009
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SubSTaNTial SHaREHOldERS
as at 9 September 2009

   direct interest  deemed interest
Name of Shareholder  No. of Shares Percentage No. of Shares Percentage

lion investment (Singapore) pte ltd  53,�00,000 33.94% – –
datuk cheng Yong kim (2)  50,000 0.03% 53,�00,000 33.94%
lion realty private limited (3)  9,950,000 6.36% 23,952,000 �5.3�%
lion holdings Sdn Bhd (4)  9,950,000 6.36% – –
angkasa marketing (Singapore) pte ltd (5)  �0,000,000 6.39% – –
the Brooklands Selangor rubber company limited (6) 5,583,000 3.57% 4,96�,000 3.�7%
cheng theng kee (�)  300,000 0.�9% 53,�34,000 33.96%
tan Sri cheng heng Jem (7)  – – 33,902,000 2�.67%
lancaster trading company limited (8)  – – 9,950,000 6.36%
William cheng Sdn Bhd (8)  – – 9,950,000 6.36%
utara enterprise Sdn Bhd (8)  – – 9,950,000 6.36%
akurjaya Sdn Bhd (9)  – – �0,544,000 6.74%
amsteel corporation Berhad (�0)  – – 23,9�9,000 �5.29%
lion corporation Berhad (��)  – – 23,952,000 �5.3�%
horizon towers Sdn Bhd (3)  – – 23,952,000 �5.3�%
lion development (penang) Sdn Bhd (3)  – – 23,952,000 �5.3�%
ldh (S) pte. ltd. (�2)  – – 23,952,000 �5.3�%
lion diversified holdings Berhad (�2)  – – 23,952,000 �5.3�%
llB Steel industries Sdn Bhd (�2)  – – 23,952,000 �5.3�%
Steelcorp Sdn Bhd (�2)  – – 23,952,000 �5.3�%
amsteel mills Sdn Bhd (�2)  – – 23,952,000 �5.3�%
lion industries corporation Berhad (�3)  33,000 0.02% 23,9�9,000 �5.29%

notes:-

(�) mr cheng theng kee is deemed to be interested in 53,�34,000 shares comprising 53,�00,000 shares held by lion 
investment (Singapore) pte ltd and 34,000 shares held by his spouse, madam chen Shok ching.

(2)  datuk cheng Yong kim, who is a son of mr cheng theng kee, is deemed to be interested in 53,�00,000 shares held 
by lion investment (Singapore) pte ltd.  

(3)  lion realty private limited, horizon towers Sdn Bhd and lion development (penang) Sdn Bhd are deemed to be 
interested in 23,952,000 shares held by in the lion corporation Berhad.

(4)  lion holdings Sdn Bhd is the beneficial owner of 3,45�,429 shares registered under lion enterprise (kuala lumpur) Sdn 
Bhd.

(5)  angkasa marketing (Singapore) pte ltd is the beneficial owner of �0,000,000 shares registered under rhB investment 
Bank Berhad.

(6)  the Brooklands Selangor rubber company limited is deemed to be interested in the 4,96�,000 shares held by 
andalas development Sdn Bhd.

(7)  tan Sri cheng heng Jem is deemed to be interested in 33,902,000 shares comprising 23,952,000 shares held by lion 
corporation Berhad and 9,950,000 shares held by lion holdings Sdn Bhd.  

(8)  lancaster trading company limited, William cheng Sdn Bhd and utara enterprise Sdn Bhd are deemed to be 
interested in the 9,950,000 shares held by lion holdings Sdn Bhd.

(9)  akurjaya Sdn Bhd is deemed to be interested in �0,544,000 shares comprising 4,96�,000 shares held by andalas 
development Sdn Bhd and 5,583,000 shares held by the Brooklands Selangor rubber company limited.

(�0) amsteel corporation Berhad is deemed to be interested in 23,9�9,000 shares comprising �0,544,000 shares held 
by akurjaya Sdn Bhd, �0,000,000 shares held by angkasa marketing (Singapore) pte ltd, �00,000 shares held by 
Silverstone corporation Berhad.

(��) lion corporation Berhad is deemed to be interested in 23,952,000 shares comprising 23,9�9,000 shares held by 
amsteel corporation Berhad and 33,000 shares held by lion industries corporation Berhad.

(�2) ldh (S) pte. ltd., lion diversified holdings Berhad, llB Steel industries Sdn Bhd, Steelcorp Sdn Bhd and amsteel 
mills Sdn Bhd are deemed to be interested in 23,952,000 shares held by lion corporation Berhad.

(�3)  lion industries corporation Berhad is deemed to be interested in 23,9�9,000 shares held by amsteel corporation 
Berhad.



lion teck chiang limited

annual report 200980

NOTiCE OF aNNual gENERal MEETiNg

NOTiCE iS HEREby giVEN THaT the annual general meeting of lion teck chiang limited (the “company”) will be held 
at �0 arumugam road #�0-00, lion Building a, Singapore 409957 on thursday, 22 october 2009 at ��.00 a.m. to transact 
the following business:-

aS ORdiNaRy buSiNESS

�. to receive and adopt the audited accounts and report of the directors and auditors of the company for the year 
ended 30 June 2009. (resolution �)

2. to re-elect mr chay Yee, a director retiring pursuant to article 9� of the company’s articles of association.         
 (resolution 2)

 Mr Chay Yee will, upon re-election, remain as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and as a member of the 
Audit Committee and Nominating Committee and will be considered independent.

3. to pass the following resolutions under Section �53(6) of the companies act (chapter 50 of Singapore) (the 
“companies act”):-

(a) that pursuant to Section �53(6) of the companies act, mr cheng theng kee be and is hereby re-appointed 
as a director of the company to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the 
company.

  (resolution 3a)

(b) that pursuant to Section �53(6) of the companies act, mr ong teong Wan be and is hereby re-appointed 
as a director of the company to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the 
company.  
 (resolution 3b)

 Mr Ong Teong Wan will, upon re-appointment, remain as Chairman of the Audit Committee and Nominating 
Committee and as  a member of the Remuneration Committee and will be considered independent.

4. to approve the payment of directors’ fees of S$80,500 for the year ended 30 June 2009 (2008: S$79,000).  
 (resolution 4)

5. to re-appoint messrs ernst & Young llp as auditors of the company and to authorise the directors to fix their 
remuneration. (resolution 5)

aS SPECial buSiNESS

to consider and, if thought fit, to pass, with or without amendments, the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions:-

6. general Mandate to directors to issue Shares

 that pursuant to Section �6� of the companies act, authority be and is hereby given to the directors of the 
company to:

(a)  (i) issue shares in the capital of the company (“shares”) (whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise); 
and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “instruments”) that might or would require 
shares to be issued, including but no limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) 
warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares;

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the directors 
may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in 
pursuance of any instrument made or granted by the directors while this resolution was in force,
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aS SPECial buSiNESS (CONT’d)

6. general Mandate to directors to issue Shares (cont’d)

provided that:

(�) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this resolution (including shares to be issued in 
pursuance of instruments made or granted pursuant to this resolution) does not exceed 50% of the total number 
of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the company (as calculated in accordance with 
sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis 
to shareholders of the company (including shares to be issued in pursuance of instruments made or granted 
pursuant to this resolution) does not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury 
shares) in the capital of the company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore exchange Securities trading 
limited (“SgX-St”)) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued 
under sub-paragraph (�) above, the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) shall be based 
on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the company at the time this 
resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or vesting 
of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time this resolution is passed; and

 
(ii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this resolution, the company shall comply with the provisions of the 
listing manual of the SgX-St for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the 
SgX-St) and the articles of association for the time being of the company; and 

(4) (unless revoked or varied by the company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this resolution shall 
continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the company or the date by which 
the next annual general meeting of the company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

 (See Explanatory Note i) (resolution 6)

7. Renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate for interested Person Transactions

 that for the purpose of chapter 9 of the listing manual of the SgX-St (“chapter 9”):-

(a) approval be and is hereby given for the company, its subsidiaries and its associated companies which are 
entities at risk as defined under chapter 9, to enter into any of the transactions falling within the categories of 
interested person transactions as described on page �7 of this annual report, with any person who falls within 
the classes of interested persons as described on page �7 of this annual report, provided that such transactions 
are made on normal commercial terms, are not prejudicial to the interests of the company and its minority 
shareholders and in accordance with the review procedures for interested person transactions set out on pages 
�8 to 20 of this annual report (the “ipt mandate”);

(b) the ipt mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the company in general meeting, continue in force until the 
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the company or the date by which the next annual general 
meeting of the company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier;

(c) the audit committee of the company be and is hereby authorised to take such action as it deems proper in 
respect of such procedures and/or to modify or implement such procedures as may be necessary to take into 
consideration any amendment to chapter 9 which may be prescribed by the SgX-St from time to time; and

(d) authority be given to the directors to complete and do all such acts and things (including, without limitation, 
executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary or in the 
interests of the company to give effect to the ipt mandate and/or this resolution. 

 (See Explanatory Note ii)  (resolution 7)

NOTiCE OF aNNual gENERal MEETiNg
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NOTiCE OF aNNual gENERal MEETiNg

aS SPECial buSiNESS (CONT’d)

8. to transact such other ordinary business as can be transacted at an annual general meeting of the company.

By order of the Board

Silvester Bernard grant
company Secretary

Singapore, 5 october 2009

explanatory note on Special Business to be transacted:-

(i) resolution 6 proposed in item 6 above, if passed, authorises the directors of the company to issue shares in the 
capital of the company and to make or grant instruments (such as warrants or debentures) convertible into shares, 
and to issue shares in pursuance of such instruments, up to an amount not exceeding in total 50% of the total number 
of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the company, with a sub-limit of 20% of the total number 
of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the company  for issues other than on a pro rata basis to 
shareholders.

(ii) resolution 7 proposed in item 7 above, if passed, renews the ipt mandate and allows the company, its subsidiaries 
and its associated companies who are entities at risk as defined under chapter 9 to enter into certain interested person 
transactions as described on page �7 of this annual report and will empower the directors to do all acts necessary to 
give effect to the ipt mandate. this authority will, unless previously revoked or varied by the company at a general 
meeting, expire at the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the company or the date by which the next 
annual general meeting of the company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier. 

Notes : 

a member of the company entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two 
proxies to attend at the same meeting. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of 
his shareholding to be represented by each proxy. a proxy need not be a member of the company.

the instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the company at �0 arumugam road 
#�0-00, lion Building a, Singapore 409957, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.
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liON TECk CHiaNg liMiTEd
company registration no. �96400�76k
(incorporated in the republic of Singapore)

iMPORTaNT : FOR CPF iNVESTORS ONly
�. this annual report is forwarded to you at the request of your cpF 

approved nominee and is sent SolelY For Your inFormation 
onlY.

2. this proxy Form is therefore not valid for use by cpF investors and 
shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to 
be used by them.

i/We, (name)

of (address)

being a member/members of lion teck chiang limited hereby appoint :

 name address nric/ proportion of
   passport no. Shareholdings (%)

 and/or (delete as appropriate)

or failing him/her, the chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us on 
my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll, at the annual general meeting of the company to be held 
at �0 arumugam road #�0-00, lion Building a, Singapore 409957 on thursday, 22 october 2009 at ��.00 a.m., 
and at any adjournment(s) thereof.

(please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the resolutions as set out in the 
notice of annual general meeting.  in the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/they may think fit, as 
he/they will on any other matter arising at the annual general meeting.)

 no. ordinary resolutions : For against

 �. adoption of audited accounts, directors’ report and auditors’ report

 2. re-election of mr chay Yee as a director of the company

 3a. re-appointment of mr cheng theng kee as a director of the company

 3b. re-appointment of mr ong teong Wan as a director of the company 

 4. approval of directors’ Fees

 5. re-appointment of messrs ernst & Young llp as auditors of the company
  and to authorise the directors to fix their remuneration

 6. general mandate for directors to issue shares, make or grant instruments
  convertible into shares and to issue shares in pursuance of such instruments

 7. renewal of the Shareholders’ mandate for interested person transactions

dated this ___________ day of _______________________  2009.

 total no. of Shares in: no. of Shares

 (�) cdp register

 (2) register of members

Signature(s) of member(s)/corporation’s common Seal

iMPORTaNT : PlEaSE REad NOTES OVERlEaF
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Notes :

�.  please insert the total number of shares held by you. if you have shares entered against your name in the 
depository register (as defined in Section �30a of the companies act (chapter 50 of Singapore)), you should 
insert that number of shares. if you have shares registered in your name in the register of members, you 
should insert that number of shares. if you have shares entered against your name in the depository register 
and shares registered in your name in the register of members, you should insert the aggregate number of 
shares entered against your name in the depository register and registered in your name in the register of 
members. if no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to 
all the shares held by you.

2.  a member of the company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the company is entitled to appoint one 
or two proxies to attend and vote in his stead and such proxy need not be a member of the company.

3.  Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the 
proportion of his shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the company’s registered office at �0 
arumugam road #�0-00 lion Building a, Singapore 409957, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed 
for the annual general meeting. 

5. the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly 
authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must 
be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6. a corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such 
person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the annual general meeting, in accordance with its articles 
of association and Section �79 of the companies act (chapter 50 of Singapore).

general :

the company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly 
completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the 
appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. in addition, in the case of shares entered in the 
depository register, the company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, 
being the appointor is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the depository register as at 48 hours 
before the time appointed for holding the annual general meeting, as certified by the central depository (pte) 
limited to the company.


